INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning
300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA
800-521-0600



	•	

University of Alberta

A Narrative Inquiry of the Intercultural and Academic

Transitional Experiences of Four Female Chinese Students

by

Yi Li



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Education

Department of Secondary Education

Edmonton, Alberta

Spring 2001



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your Sie Votre référence

Our šie Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-60396-2



University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author: Yi Li

Title of Thesis: A Narrative Inquiry of the Intercultural and Academic

Transitional Experiences of Four Female Chinese Students

Degree: Master of Education

Year this Degree Granted: 2001

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Yi Li

39/401, An Shan Ba Cun

Shanghai, 200092

China

Date: March 20, 2001

To live is to change,
but to grow is to change often.
The essence of life is transition—
a pilgrimage, if you prefer.

-Philip R. Harris (1985, p. 322)

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled A Narrative Inquiry of the Intercultural and Academic Transitional Experiences of Four Female Chinese Students submitted by Yi

Li in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Education.

Dr. Olenka Bilash
(Supervisor)

They solug From

Olenka Bilash

Dr. Maryanne Doherty-Poirier

Dr. Normand Fortin

Date: March 7,2001



Abstract

This is a study of the transitional experiences of four Chinese female students as they left China for study in Canada. The four participants—Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose—were born around 1980, finished their high school education in China, entered a Canadian high school for a university preparation program, and started their undergraduate years at the University of Alberta. Through narrative inquiry, they reflected on the process of their cultural and academic adjustment into a new country, gained some insights into their past experiences, and set directions for their future lives. Their experiences of transitions were captured in three themes: Being Told What to Do: High School Experience in China, Not Knowing What to Do: High School Experience in Canada, and Learning to Know What to Do: University Experience in Canada. Recommendations and suggestions were made in the form of three letters to parents in China, educators in China as well as educators in Canada.

Acknowledgement

When I began my master's program two and a half years ago, I did not anticipate the encouragement, support, and care that I would receive along my rocky research journey. Many people have helped me to go where I wanted to go, even though at times I myself was not sure where I was going!

This study would not have been possible without the willingness of my research participants, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose. I thank you for your trust and confidence, for your friendship and for your support in times of difficulty. The stories of your experiences, your hopes and dreams have motivated me to carry out this study and I have learned so much from the experience.

I am indebted to my supervisor, Dr. Olenka Bilash, whose infinite love, patience and support sustained me throughout the whole process, not only in my academic studies but also in my personal life as a foreign student. I remember your warm hugs and friendly gestures in those early freezing months in Edmonton. I thank you for your knowledge, your direction, your time and your care. Thank you for not letting go, Olenka!

I am also indebted to my thesis committee whose teaching and responses inspired me to further my thinking and understanding. To Dr. Maryanne Doherty-Poirier, whose interest in me as a person, as a woman, as a young professional eager to learn, gave me the wonderful experience of being mentored. I will always remember your heartening giggles and those late-at-night chats in the workroom! To Dr. Normand Fortin, whose warm "Welcome aboard" invitation encouraged me to further develop my newly-constructed researcher identity. Thank you for your complimentary and heartening response to my work, Dr. Fortin. Your insightful and intellectually challenging comments and questions will continue to engage me.

My sincere gratitude and thanks go to the staff of the Department of Secondary Education, in particular: To Dr. Terry Carson and Dr. Ingrid Johnston, whose timely help and responses put me at ease in times of uncertainty and anxiety. To Dr. Jim Parsons and Dr. Tara Fenwick, who made warm memories of my first Canadian Thanksgiving and Christmas. Thank you for your words of encouragement, Jim! To Barb Keppy and Dawne Cook, two great Graduate Secretaries, who have "saved my life" in different ways.

I express my gratitude to my fellow graduate students, in particular, I thank Teresa Dobson, Thooptong Kwangsawad and Mauricio Salegio, who were always there when I needed them. Thank you for your friendship and help.

I reserve a special spot in my heart for Dr. Jean Clandinin, whose love, encouragement, inspiration, in more ways than can be measured, helped me see new possibilities to relive my life and retell my stories. Jean, I thank you.

Finally, my heartfelt thanks go to my family. To my parents, Lifen Yang and Xinghua Li, who have always believed in me and supported me, both emotionally and financially. To my parents-in-law, Huiying Tang and Zhiyang Zhou, who have loved me just like their own daughter and who took very good care of my daughter during my two-year absence. To Guoji, who is my best friend and loving husband, I thank you for your constant encouragement, support and love. Without you this study would never have been possible. To my four-and-a-half-year-old daughter Jiayan, who might, for a while, stop asking me in Chinese, "Mommy, do you have to sit in front of the computer again?"

Table of Contents

Chapter One Introduction
A Narrative Beginning1
Research Focus/Questions9
Significance of the Study10
Chapter Two Narrative Inquiry as a Research Methodology
Introduction12
The Importance of Narrative in My Own Life12
What Is Narrative Inquiry20
Narrative Research with Four Students22
Stage 1: Being in the Field (Walking into the midst of Stories)24
Negotiating relationships25
Negotiating purposes25
Negotiating transitions26
Negotiating a way to be useful27
Stage 2: From Field to Field Texts (Being in a Place of Stories)29
Autobiographical writing as field text29
Journal writing as field text
Conversations as field text31
Stage 3: From Field Texts to Research Texts
(Making Meaning of Experience) 32

Chapter Three Being Told What to Do:

High School Experience in China	34
Marks	34
Lack of Time and Freedom	40
Parental Sacrifices	40
My Reflection on the Research Question	41
Chapter Four Not Knowing What to Do:	
High School Experience in Canada	43
Disappointment and Feeling Empty	43
Language Difficulty	45
Homesickness	47
My Reflection on the Research Question	48
Chapter Five Learning to Know What to Do:	
University Experience in Canada	53
Financial Concerns	53
Tuition	53
Clothing	54
Food	54
Accommodation	55
Transportation	56
Learning to cone	56

Stress of Decision-making	57
Academic Difficulties	59
Language Difficulties	60
Listening	60
Speaking	61
Reading	62
Writing	63
Choosing Majors	64
Learning New Technology	66
Study Styles and Time Management	66
Professor-student Relations	67
Maintaining GPA	69
My Reflection on the Research Question	69
Chapter Six Making Life Easier:	
Recommendations and Suggestions	72
A Letter to a Parent in China	72
A Letter to an Educator in China.	77
A Letter to an Educator in Canada	81
References	87
Appendixes	91

A Narrative Beginning

My role as a researcher began today. I went to the first class of this term this evening, looking forward to a year of great learning and intellectual growth.

It was a "Curriculum Foundations" course. Because there were twenty-two students, too big for a graduate course, they decided to split the class into two. My professor seemed to me a nice teacher.

While rearranging the furniture in the classroom, a classmate of mine and I singled out one desk and one chair in front of the blackboard for the professor. However, he protested that he did not want to sit too far away from his students. So he moved himself and sat among us, in a circle of desks and chairs. I felt uneasy because never before did a professor sit, not stand, so close to me in a classroom!

After handing out the course outline and briefly explaining what we were going to do this term, the professor played a video about the charter school idea. He then asked us to form into small groups of three to discuss it and tape record our discussion. I had never heard about this idea, how could I possibly participate in the discussion in a meaningful way?

When I was with my discussion partners, most of the time I found myself acting like an interviewer, asking them a lot of questions about this charter idea. I had no idea how the public school system works in Alberta, let alone the charter idea.

Feeling overwhelmed, I just sat there and listened to my partners talking, trying very hard to understand their English and make sense of what they were talking about. With a very high TOEFL score and pretty good command of English, I had thought I would not have much difficulty in a Canadian classroom!

I knew they were talking in English, Canadian English. But it was very different from the American English and British English which I had been studying for more than a decade. They were talking too fast for a pair of poor foreign ears. I found myself still processing the first sentence while they had already moved into the middle of the second one.

I guessed that neither of my partners felt enthusiastic about the idea. However, they both agreed that it is good as an alternative to challenge the public school system and force it to improve and make changes. Public schools in Alberta are doing just fine, they told me.

45 minutes later, the class gathered to share the discussion results. I was expecting that the professor would sum up by offering his opinion on the issue. And I would know whether it was a good idea to introduce the charter idea into the Alberta school system. But he never did! Instead, he just made a comment or two during our sharing.

I left the classroom, feeling upset and confused because I still did not know the correct answer to the question. I wanted to ask my professor for the correct answer after the class. But on second thought, I decided to wait. Perhaps he would offer the correct answer in the next class...

(Journal entry, September 8, 1998)

As I relive those moments two years later, I can still feel the frustration, dizziness, and bewilderment during that first month in Edmonton, on a foreign campus in a foreign country.

Of course, the professor never provided me with a correct answer. Neither did he lecture to the class most of the time. Instead, most of the class time was devoted to group discussions and sharing of ideas and insights among class participants. When I found that this classroom practice was the norm, rather than the exception, I began to really wonder whether I would learn anything useful in this graduate school!

In the meantime, I found myself catching up on almost everything academic or non-academic. Apart from finishing those endless readings for my courses, I spent most of my waking hours in front of a computer in the education library. I would practice searching the ERIC database and e-mailing to my GPU account. When I found my document in my account, I had a sense of great achievement. I would also practice improving my word-processing skills and learning to use new educational software programs, such as Endnote, which was one of the assignments for my research methodology course.

I was ready to meet the challenges posed by the academic world. However,

I did not foresee the difficulties I would have to encounter in my day-to-day living
in this foreign country. I had made the assumption that, as in China, once I

registered in my program I would have everything ready for me: the courses I needed to take, and the place I had to live in. I remembered when I started my undergraduate years in China, after I registered, I found out where my classroom would be, and I even received the key to my dormitory. My six roommates were my classmates throughout the four years of study. We took the same courses and we stayed in the same classroom most of the time. The professors would come to our classroom and teach us.

Therefore, I was surprised to know that I had to look for housing myself on campus in Edmonton. By the time I realized that, it was already mid-August. I was staying with my husband in Jasper then and had a part-time job. Since I was a stranger to Edmonton I chose to live on the University of Alberta (U of A) campus. So I faxed my application form immediately and applied to live in the student residence in Hub Mall (Hub) because it was cheaper, and near the Education building. They told me that they would put me on the waiting list. I assumed that they had to give me some place to stay in after I registered. So I told my husband that I "got" a spot in Hub. Of course, he was angry at the end of August when he realized that I was only on the waiting list. Knowing that I did not have a spot in Hub, he phoned his friends around Edmonton from Jasper in search of accommodation for me. Unfortunately, they all lived quite far away from the university.

In the end, one of the friends mentioned that there were three old houses, in between the Suite Hotel and Newton Place, which would be torn down in October 1998. I phoned the owner and explained my difficult situation. He was

sympathetic and agreed to let me move in for just a month so that I could look for other possibilities.

The very first month in Edmonton, I stayed in that run-down house with another student at the U of A. It was only five minutes' walk from the Education building and it was better than living on the streets. I still remember how hard I tried to convince myself of that by looking at the positive side. It could have been worse.

On September 3, 1998, I secured a spot in Hub and was extremely relieved at the thought of moving into a warm and cozy place, where I could concentrate on my studies and enjoy my life in a foreign land instead of shivering on the streets in winter. Completely unprepared was I for what would happen for the following five months and 18 days in that horrible place--my dream of pursuing an advanced education in this foreign land was almost shattered!

Unlike most of my Canadian colleagues, who knew why they were in graduate school, I had no clear idea why I was in my graduate program at the beginning. I guess I just had a vague idea that I wanted to do a master's degree in the area of education so that I would be better qualified as a teacher and would find a teaching job in this new country.

While still searching for my research topic, I had many conversations with my professors and colleagues about the notion of a learner-centered approach to the teaching and learning in western countries both inside and outside of the classroom. I found this approach upsetting at first because I did not believe that any learning could occur under such circumstances. And yet as time went by, I

started to question my own assumptions about teaching and learning because I found myself highly motivated to learn more about my subject area: the teaching and learning of English in China. There was something in this learner-centered approach! Later, I realized that this was the approach I had been experimenting with throughout my professional career in China, without consciously knowing it. I always encouraged my students to take a more active role in my English classrooms because my own learning experiences had led me to believe that students are ultimately responsible for their own learning and language learning should be learner-centered.

By December 1998, I had decided on my research topic: to introduce a learner-centered approach into the teaching and learning of English in Chinese classrooms. I was so enthusiastic about my project that I went back to Shanghai in April 1999 to look for my potential research site. To my great disappointment, the teachers in one secondary school were just too busy to accommodate my research agenda. What's more, with a class of sixty students, they did not believe that my approach would work. I, too, realized that there would be major challenges in adapting a learner-centered approach to such a large class size. Some younger teachers did show some interest in my project, but I had no confidence that I was ready to carry out this research project. So I returned to the U of A in September 1999 and took a course in action research while trying to figure out what I was going to do for the rest of my master's program.

In mid-September I happened to meet two Chinese students, Jasmine and Rose (both pseudonyms) in the gym. I was on my way to my locker when Jasmine

called my English name. I was amazed that they still remembered me. I had met them earlier in February when they and their classmates visited the university on an open house day. Their ESL teacher was a Canadian friend of mine and she wanted me to do some interpretation for them during the university campus tour because of their limited English language abilities.

As the mid-Autumn Festival was around the corner, Jasmine and Rose along with two other students I had met, Magnolia and Mei ("plum blossoms", also pseudonyms), invited me over to their place to celebrate this traditional Chinese holiday, a time of family reunions.

In order to save money, Jasmine, Mei and Magnolia shared a one-bedroom apartment in the basement of an apartment building while Rose stayed with her cousin's family.

We had such a good time that I had to stay overnight. Five of us crammed into one bedroom, three on mattresses and two on the floor. They were curious about my life and work. In a sense I was interviewed by four of them about the history of my education, my family, in particular, my love story. I understood their curiosity and their wonderment. Back in Shanghai, I had taught students of the same age for ten years!

Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose come from the coastal cities in the eastern part of China. Jasmine, Mei and Magnolia are each the only child of their respective families while Rose has an elder sister, 20 years older than her. They

finished their high school in China and had been studying English as a subject in schools for seven years.

Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose came to Canada in September 1998 and entered a high school in Edmonton for a university preparation program, mainly to improve their English in order to obtain a sufficient TOEFL score and to get ready for their university life. However, after one year of study, none of them met the minimum admission requirement of TOEFL score, i.e. 580. So they were admitted to their undergraduate programs in September 1999 on the condition that they take an ESL course in order to catch up. Therefore, in the first fall term (1999) at the U of A, all four female students took an intensive ESL course, Monday through Saturday, three hours a day. They had to spend a lot of time and work really hard on it because if they failed that course they would have to drop out of the university immediately.

Magnolia planned to take biological sciences and *Mei* intended to take computer science as their majors. *Mei* chose computer science because she was told that it would be easier for her to find a job after graduation. Jasmine wanted to do engineering and Rose was interested in business. All of them wanted to stay in Canada after graduation and they had quite positive attitudes towards Canada.

However, since they had difficulty improving their conversational English, we decided to have regular weekend meetings in English. We talked about everything, but mostly about our schooling experiences in both China and Canada. I tape-recorded all the conversations so that they could go back and listen to their own English and I could help them analyze the mistakes they had made.

It was not until the third conversation that I realized that they were experiencing the same academic difficulties that I had when I started my graduate studies a year before. I began to have this vague feeling that what we shared could become the focus of my thesis research. Although I knew that I wanted to write something personally meaningful and relevant, something that would help others, I was still not sure what my research question would be.

As our weekly sessions of English conversation practice went on, I started to see where these conversations were leading me. Yes, I wanted to write something about us, me and them. I wanted to give an account of our experiences moving to a different culture so that we could gain some insights to facilitate our smoother adjustment into this new world, so that parents in China would know what they should expect when they made the decision to send their children abroad, so that educators in China would know how to better prepare their students academically, and so that educators in Canada would know how to modify their practices in order to better meet the needs of their foreign students. They were all excited when I told them what my research topic would be for my master's thesis and were willing to offer me their stories. Appropriate ethics forms were then completed, signed, reviewed and approved (see Appendixes A and B).

Several researchers mentioned that during the process of cross-cultural adjustment (living in a foreign country), the early days after arrival were of particular difficulty to most of the sojourners (Adler, 1991; Lu, 1998; Sheh, 1994). However, because of the human tendency to only talk about positive things such as achievement, success, and fulfillment, words like "meaninglessness", "failure", and

"depression" are not frequently mentioned. And yet we, who have made that sojourn, lived with those words on a daily basis during the early stages of living in a foreign country.

Research Focus/Questions

Because of my own personal and professional experiences, as well as the literature I have reviewed, I became very interested in the transitional experiences of Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose as they began their overseas study in a foreign high school and then moved into their first year of study in a university. Thus emerged the central research questions of this study:

How do these students experience the transition from a Chinese high school to a Canadian one?

How do they experience the transition from a Canadian high school to a Canadian university?

What are the meanings of these experiences for them?

Within these large questions are even more puzzling questions: What do these students experience in Chinese high schools, a Canadian high school, and a Canadian university? How do they feel about their experiences? What continuities and discontinuities do they experience between a Chinese high school and a Canadian high school, or between a Canadian high school and university? How do they make sense of their transitional experiences? What is it that contributes to greater continuity in their early educational experiences in a foreign

land? What can educators in both Canada and China do to help them experience the transition? What can their parents do to help them be better prepared?

Significance of the Study

In the past several years in China, there has been a dramatic increase in the number of high school students who want to pursue their post-secondary education overseas. Because of the one-child policy and because education has always been valued in Chinese culture, parents in China will try every means possible to help their children complete at least one university degree.

However, in reality because of the fierce competition for limited spaces (only one third of more than three million high school graduates can enroll in the institutions of higher learning annually) it has become more and more difficult to get into first-rate universities in China. Not satisfied to settle for the second- or third-rate ones, parents turn their attention to foreign universities. "The most popular destinations to receive an education abroad are countries such as the United States, Canada, Australia, the United Kingdom and Singapore" ("Enrollment up", 1999).

With Canada's reputation for cleanliness, safety, low cost of living and quality university education, many young Chinese students come to Canada. This poses many new challenges to individual students, their host countries and educational institutions both at home and abroad.

This study is significant for parents, educators and educational institutions in China and educators and educational institutions in Canada. I hope it will point

to ways that these young sojourners can be better prepared before they go to a foreign culture and how they can be better facilitated after they arrive in the new environment.

Introduction

This research study has emerged out of my own experiences as a graduate student in a foreign university and my attempt to understand other foreign students' experiences of learning and living in a foreign country. I wanted to know the challenges that foreign students like myself encountered and how they found ways to help them manage their situations. I wanted to delve into their learning and living experiences by listening to their stories and exploring how they constructed their realities, and gave meaning to their everyday lives. In the research process of telling their stories of transition, students would have opportunities to reflect on their experiences and through the process, find ways to better manage their lives in a foreign land.

Because of the nature of my study, it did not take me too long to discover that narrative was the most appropriate approach for my inquiry into the students' transitional experiences between two cultures.

In this chapter, I will explore the importance of narrative in my own life, what narrative inquiry is and the process of using narrative inquiry in the study.

The Importance of Narrative in My Own Life

My first encounter with "narrative inquiry" was accidental. When I started my graduate program in September 1998, I had no idea what my research interest would be. However, I knew that I wanted to capitalize on my background of

teaching English for ten years in a university in China and my interest in teaching and learning English.

Fortunately, my supervisor, Dr. Olenka Bilash, helped me out. She suggested that I should start reading some theses done by Chinese graduate students at the Faculty of Education at the U of A to see if I could find something that would interest me. Among them, the most interesting one was a master's project done by Grace (Guiqing) Yao (1997) in the Department of Elementary Education. She employed "narrative inquiry" as her research methodology and told stories of herself, from a young girl disguised in boy's clothes in a small town in Northern China in the 1960s to a kindergarten teacher in Canada in the 1990s, a journey across two cultures. I found myself immersed in her story, smiling at happy events and sighing at sad ones. As a matter of fact, that was the only thesis I finished reading from the start to the end. I no longer thought that doing research was boring. Somehow in my mind I hoped that one day I could do a narrative study as well.

Later, in one introductory course to different research traditions, I learned about "narrative inquiry" as well as other research methods through presentations done by my fellow graduate students. However, at that time, I was confused and overwhelmed by all of the terminology: ethnography, phenomenology, hermeneutics, etc. and thought to myself that I would never figure out what they meant to me!

It was not until I took a course with Dr. Jean Clandinin on "narrative inquiry" between January and April 2000 that I finally came to understand what

"narrative inquiry" was. Dr. Clandinin insisted that I come and meet her personally to make sure that "narrative inquiry" was what I really needed for my study. After she knew about the nature of my study, she gave me the green light to register in her course.

In this course, I felt comfortable in writing and sharing many stories about my teaching, learning and my life in China and in Canada. Through the process of retelling my life story, I began to reflect on my past experiences, to make sense of them and to set the direction for my future life. The following is an account about my experiences living in the students' residence on campus during my first year in Edmonton.

On October 1, 1998, the second month I was in Edmonton, I moved into a four-bedroom unit in the students' residence of Hub Mall. It was a two-level unit with two bedrooms and a bathroom on the upper level and two bedrooms, a kitchen, a storage room, and a living room on the lower level.

I was surprised to meet Sally and Ruth (both pseudonyms), two Canadian-born eastern Indian girls, who were sleeping in the living room during the day. Why didn't they sleep in their own bedrooms? Didn't they have classes during the day? It was just Thursday. They remained in the living room even after they had met my husband, who was helping me to move.

Later that day, I met Paula (also pseudonym), an international graduate student from India, who moved in with me on the same day. As a matter of fact, Sally asked Paula to exchange their bedrooms so that she became Ruth's neighbor on the upper level while Paula and I stayed downstairs with my bedroom next to the kitchen and hers next to the storage room.

I spent the rest of the day unpacking my stuff and put them in the right places, thinking to myself that I would never move again. Too much trouble! By mid-night that day I was so exhausted that I fell asleep even though it was very noisy in the living room.

The following morning, the younger girl, Ruth, told me that they had invited several friends to have a party and that they wished that the music hadn't been too loud. I told her that the music was VERY loud in the middle of the night, but that I was too tired to be bothered by it.

However, they still invited their friends over the weekend and partied all night long. Sometimes they would cook in the middle of the night. Other times they would leave the unit at small hours in the morning with a loud bang of the unit door and their noisy steps of high heels. I found myself waken up between 2 a.m. and 5 a.m. for three consecutive nights. But I tried very hard to understand them. I kept telling myself that I was in a Canadian university, that it's O.K. to have parties at weekends and that they were young and loved parties.

When Paula and I realized that we were experiencing the same sleeping problem, we decided to do something about it. On October 5, Monday morning, Paula and I, the two new move-ins, talked to them because both of us felt exhausted after constant disturbances during the night. They apologized for the noise they made, but explained that it was difficult for them to turn away their friends. I reminded them about the quiet time rule in the residence handbook and told them that their friends were always welcome except after 11 p.m. and before 8 a.m. We thought ours was a quite reasonable request.

However, nothing changed in the next two days. I talked to the older one, Sally, again on Wednesday. Again, she apologized. But their friends still remained in our unit until after mid-night.

I had to do a presentation for Olenka's undergraduate students between 8 and 9 on Thursday morning on October 8. I really needed a good night's sleep. So at 0:30 a.m. I asked their friends to leave our unit. They were surprised by my desperate action, but they left as it was a polite request.

That was the very first time in my whole life that I had done that. I felt really bad because I was forced to do something rude. As a result, I lost the whole night's sleep. I couldn't even stand steadily while I was doing the presentation, let alone think logically. Fortunately, I had told Olenka before the presentation and then she let the whole class know about my trouble with my roommates. So after the presentation the students didn't bomb me with questions about what difficulties native Chinese-speakers encounter while learning English. I felt nervous because it was the first presentation I ever did in a Canadian classroom and I was not used to being asked questions in public. Back in China, if students had questions they always came to me before or after class on an individual basis and I always had a correct answer for them as most of their questions were from their textbooks or exercises.

I left Olenka's classroom, feeling sad that I could have done it a lot better. I had spent almost a week reading and researching and preparing the handouts for this presentation and yet...

When I arrived in my unit, my two roommates and their two girl friends were talking in the living room. After saying hello to them, I headed towards my bedroom. I had to take an afternoon nap. I thought that even earthquake wouldn't have waked me up, but one of their girl

friends' loud scream did the job. Feeling outraged, I rushed out of my bedroom and screamed with all my might, "Leave here right now!"

Feeling embarrassed, their girl friends left. I sat down at the kitchen table and burst into uncontrollable sobs. In between sobs, I told them that I had never done that before in my whole life, that it was against my nature, and that their behavior left me no better choices.

This scared my two roommates and they tried to calm me down, but in vain. After a while, Sally said, "This is too much for me. I'll go down to the Hub life office to ask for a transfer to a two-bedroom unit."

So she did. But there was a long waiting-list for two-bedrooms and she could not get anything right away. Besides, moving to a two-bedroom unit meant CND \$100 more for the monthly rent.

In retrospect, Paula and I know better now why we were "lucky" enough to get our spots in October in that unit. One of their former roommates only stayed for a week and the other stayed for only a month. We were both in a desperate situation and we did not have choices. As winter was coming, it was getting more and more difficult to find a spot in residences on campus.

After the incident, we had four nights of quiet and peace. I thought that they probably had spread the word that one of their new roommates was crazy and that nobody would dare to come again. However, on the fifth morning I found myself waken up again at 1:30 a.m. I came to the living room and asked their friends, one male and one female, to leave. It was much easier for me to do it the second time. But they refused to leave and ignored me.

I put on my clothes and went downstairs to call campus security in the hope that they would interfere. Instead they directed me to HRA on call and told me to wait for her. I had no idea who was this HRA, but was glad to know that I might get some help.

I sat down on one of the couches in Hub mall and looked around. There was nobody else in sight in the mall. It was so quiet out there without daytime's hustle and bustle. Who would take a walk in a mall in the middle of the night, any ways?

I waited and waited, but nobody came. It was already 3:30 a.m. I went upstairs to my bedroom and could not go back to sleep. So I turned on the light and did some reading until my eyes became sore and went to bed.

The following morning, Paula and I went to the Hub life office and complained about our two-week nightmare. The lady at the front desk asked us to submit a letter of complaint to the HRA of our zone to see if he could make our situations improved. So we did.

Meanwhile, the situation in our unit worsened. Between October 13 and October 18, there were always two or three strangers staying overnight, male or female, sleeping in the living room for the whole week. The garbage bin kept piling up with their pizza boxes and food leftovers, cigarette-ends and empty whisky bottles. The two sinks were filled with

their dirty dishes and Paula and I had to remove all of them in order to wash ours. The bathtub became filthy so quickly with so many people using it that I could no longer take hot baths. As a matter of fact, for the remaining five months in that horribly dirty place I only took showers. In order to allow their friends to enter our unit with ease, Sally and Ruth not only unlocked the main door, but also left a note on the door, telling their friends that it was open and that their rooms were upstairs.

It was too much for Paula and me. So we decided to talk to them again on Sunday, October 18. We reminded them that it was a non-smoking unit and that their friends could only visit and stay for a maximum of two weeks per term and that between 11 p.m. and 8 a.m. was quiet time according to the residence regulations. We told them that from then on, Paula and I would use the left sink and they would use the right one and that we would throw our own garbage and they were responsible for theirs and that the unit door should remain locked at all time and that nobody would answer the door between 11 p.m. and 8 a.m.

On Monday, October 19, Paula and I went to see this HRA, which stood for Hub Residence Assistant, a Ph. D student. I asked Paula to recount our terrible experiences to him because I knew I might become so angry that I could not finish it. He took some notes and promised to look into this matter. He would ask Sally and Ruth to come and tell their side of the story. He assured us that "the Hub Community Association (HCA) is not a toothless organization!" before we left the HCA office.

Paula and I were greatly relieved at the thought that finally justice would be done and that these two girls would behave properly very soon. We never broke the rules. They did. Therefore, they should be punished in one way or another. Maybe they would be evicted from this unit.

Two days later, Sally and Ruth received a letter, asking them to go to the HCA office for a talk. They did not go. On Friday, Paula and I got a letter from him, saying that our roommates did not show up for the meeting and that he could only suggest that we sit down and talk to one another to solve our problems.

Early Monday morning, October 26, Paula and I went to the Hub life office to submit our request forms for transfer to other residences on campus. However, we were told that a transfer would be considered only after we had lived in Hub for four months! It was in the middle of winter and neither of us had access to vehicles to help us move. We decided to settle down and face the reality. We agreed to move out at the same time when spring came.

In order to avoid further conflicts, I packed my lunch and dinner in the morning and stayed in my office most of the time. I took a nap on the big couch in the department lounge in the afternoon so that I could study till late at night. The department secretaries knew my story and one of them, Barb Keppy, lent me a pillow. Some of my fellow graduate students offered their help and suggestions. Words of encouragement and friendly gestures meant a lot to me in those freezing months in a foreign land.

Looking back, the good side of the story was that I lost weight, ten pounds within two months. The bad side was that I suffered from sleep disorder. By early December I found myself waking up automatically at two or three o'clock in the morning and could not go back to sleep until five or six, when Sally and Ruth were cooking and eating their meals. I could never tell whether it was their dinner, lunch or breakfast.

I stopped calling those HRA's in the middle of the night when I realized that they were also students at the U of A. What was the point of waking others up? I was waken up and could not easily go back to sleep myself. Let them have a peaceful sleep if they could.

One Friday evening in November, I was so tired that I really needed a good sleep. So I carried my blanket and pillow into the department lounge and planned to spend the night there. No matter how hard I tried, I could not go to sleep. Tears filled my eyes when I lay down on the couch, perhaps the 99th time, thinking to myself, "Are you crazy? Why don't you just give up and go back to China to take care of your two-year old daughter? What's the point of pursuing this degree at such a high cost? Do you really need this degree in the first place? ..."

Tossing and turning on the couch for an hour or so, I listened to the noise of the ventilation fans in the building and the passing cars outside in the hope that these noises would bore me to sleep. But I failed. Around mid-night, I got up from the couch and headed for my bedroom in Hub.

Having lived in Hub for five months and 18 days, Paula and I finally moved out of that unit in mid-March, 1999. Later we heard that Sally and Ruth had new roommates monthly in the summer. We could never understand why the management did not evict them or move them to a two-bedroom unit to solve the problem once and for all. I could never understand why they came to the U of A in the first place. They seldom went to classes, hardly studied and often dropped courses. When exams came, they went to the hospital or clinic to ask for deferrals. Out of five exams Sally asked for three deferrals! Each deferral cost her CND \$ 28.00. They had part time jobs in stores to earn some money, but their parents paid their tuition and living expenses. During that five months and 18 days I always wondered if their parents knew what they were doing at the U of A...

I have told and retold this story many times to my friends and colleagues in order to make sense of it for the past two years. When I first told it to one of my close friends, I felt outraged and frustrated, thinking to myself, "How come in a democratic country like Canada, when someone violates the rules and regulations, they are not punished accordingly?" At that time, I really hated those two girls.

They had made my life so miserable and difficult. However, as time went by, I was surprised to notice that I came to understand this story in a different way after so many retellings. As I am writing it now, I no longer hate them. I realize that the conflicts and tensions between us were inevitable since we come from different cultural backgrounds and we have different values and beliefs and ways of doing things. Mine is not necessarily more appropriate than theirs. By imposing my own value judgement on their behaviors, I failed to understand the situation I was in. I was encountering a culture so different from my own that I felt very uncomfortable and I blamed them for all my sufferings. Instead of looking for other alternatives to leave that unit as quickly as possible, I stubbornly believed that "justice" should be done to those who broke the rules and that there should be some authority I could turn to and solve the "problem" for me. When things did not work out the way I had expected, I thought the whole system was failing!

Through telling and retelling this story, I have learned to view my past experiences in an altered way. This has helped me to gain new insights and understandings into my past experiences, which will help me to shape my future life in a new direction.

At the same time, I started to see clearly the possibility of using stories as a tool for conducting research on myself and as a methodology for my research study.

What Is Narrative Inquiry?

Narrative is defined by the Concise Oxford Dictionary of Current English (Allen, 1990) as "a spoken or written account of connected events in order of happening" (p. 788). To narrate means to "give a continuous story or account of" (p. 788). Egan (1986) states that "[t]he story form is a cultural universal; everyone everywhere enjoys stories" (p. 2). Barbara Hardy (as cited in McEwan & Egan, 1995) also observes that we "dream in narrative, daydream in narrative, remember, anticipate, hope, despair, believe, doubt, plan, revise, criticize, construct, gossip, learn, hate and live by narrative" (p. vii). Thus I understand that Egan's (1986) "story" is equal to Hardy's "narrative". However, Connelly and Clandinin (1991) make a distinction between "story" and "narrative". For them, "story" refers to anecdotes of specific situations, just like the small pieces of a jigsaw puzzle and "narrative" refers to long-term life events, the whole picture of that jigsaw puzzle. Therefore, narrative is a continuous storytelling of connected anecdotes in order of happening.

Connelly and Clandinin (1990) believe that people by nature live storied lives and tell stories of their lives all the time and that human experience is basically storied experience. Thus, storytelling or narrative is a natural human phenomenon. Meanwhile, it is also "a way of knowing and ... a way of organizing and communicating experience" (McEwan & Egan, 1995, p. xii). In fact, the word "narrative, to narrate", has its root in the Latin gnoscere, noscere "to know".

Egan (1986) states that "[t]elling a story is a way of establishing meaning" (p. 37). Polkinghorne (1988) says that narrative serves to

give form to the understanding of a purpose to life and to join everyday actions and events into episodic units. It provides a framework for understanding the past events of one's life and for planning future actions (p. 11).

In a similar vein, Mattingly (1991) writes,

Stories not only give meaning to experiences we have already lived through. They also provide us a forward glance, helping us anticipate meaningful shapes for situations even before we enter them, allowing us to envision endings from the very beginning (p. 237).

Therefore, as human beings, we make meaning of our experiences of the world by telling and retelling stories, that is, through narrative. Narrative is central to the understanding of human experience (Connelly and Clandinin, 1988).

Clandinin and Connelly (2000), in their most recent book Narrative Inquiry: Experience and Story in Qualitative Research, define "narrative inquiry" as

...a way of understanding experience. It is a collaboration between researcher and participants, over time, in a place or series of places, and in social interaction with milieus. An inquirer enters this matrix in the midst and progresses in this same spirit, concluding the inquiry still in the midst of living and telling, reliving and retelling, the stories of the experiences that make up people's lives, both individual and social. Simply stated, ...narrative inquiry is stories lived and told (p. 20).

Connelly and Clandinin (1990) use the term "story" to refer to the phenomenon of lived stories and the term "narrative" to refer to the inquiry or method (story telling). Thus, I understand narrative inquiry as <u>both</u> stories of human experience (phenomenon) and a method of construction and reconstruction, interpretation and reinterpretation of those experiences. When we tell and retell our life's stories, we interrelate each segment of those stories through a narrative in order to see our lives in a broader sense. We respond to the whole and reflect on

the meaning of our experiences to understand ourselves and the world around us (Yeom, 1996, p. 35).

We can live through our experiences and not learn much from them. Storytelling and retelling seem to be a powerful research method to help us make meaning from our experiences. Mattingly (1991) helps me think about how the process of sharing our stories encourages us to become more aware of ourselves, of who we are, of where we came from, and of what we are going to do in the future. Because our realities are "socially" constructed, we rely on those around us to help us understand ourselves. As van Manen (1984) observes, in telling our own story of lived experience, we know that our experiences are also the possible experiences of others. Coles (1989) also espouses that the stories of other people, written or spoken, can lead us to a deeper understanding of ourselves. Hence, he advocates that an important part of our lives should be spent listening to the stories of others and reciprocating with our own tales (Kluczny, 1998).

Therefore, like Coles (1989), I felt that it was very important for me as a researcher to encourage the four students, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose, to tell and retell their own stories so that they could process their own experiences, and learn to pull together the fragmented pictures of their lives and set direction for their future.

Narrative Research With Four Students

The process of narrative inquiry consists of three stages. In the first stage, as narrative inquirers start their research relationships with their participants, they

need to work through several key areas in order to gain entry into their research fields—they need to negotiate relationships, purposes, transitions, and ways to be useful. In the second stage, also called data collection, narrative inquirers compose their field texts—narrative accounts of their experiences and their participants.'

There are several ways and a variety of sources that narrative inquirers can use to gather their data, such as field notes, participant observation, research interviews, and documents. In the third stage, also referred to as data analysis and interpretation, narrative inquirers code the data, sort them out, and look for patterns and themes in order to determine the meaning of the data. They usually write tentative interpretations and share them with their participants several times until the final research texts emerge.

Clandinin and Connelly (2000) call these three stages: being in the field (walking into the midst of stories), from field to field texts (being in a place of stories), and from field texts to research texts (making meaning of experience).

Clandinin and Connelly (2000) never intend that narrative inquiry be a set of separate, distinct and linear procedures that narrative inquirers should follow. Instead, the process of doing narrative inquiry is always multi-layered and recursive. However, as a beginning narrative inquirer, I found it helpful to follow these three stages systematically. For the remainder of this chapter I will describe the process of my research journey with the four Chinese students--Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose--following this research framework.

Stage One: Being in the Field (Walking into the Midst of Stories)

As narrative researchers begin their inquiries, they always find themselves "in the midst--located somewhere along the dimensions of time, place, the personal, and the social" (Clandinin and Connelly, 2000, p. 63). Both researchers and participants enter the inquiry field in the midst of living their stories. Participants' lives do not begin the day researchers arrive nor do they end as researchers leave. Their lives begin before the research and continue thereafter.

When I met Jasmine and Rose on the U of A campus in mid-September 1999, I was in the second year of my master's program, still passionate about my original project, which was to introduce a learner-centered approach into the teaching and learning of English in Chinese classrooms. However, at the same time I was open to other research possibilities. Jasmine and Rose, as well as Magnolia and *Mei*, were all admitted into their undergraduate programs at the U of A and were happy that finally their dreams of going to university came true.

Before my research project began, I, the researcher, and my participants—Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose—were friends. After they invited me to their place to celebrate the Chinese mid-Autumn Festival, we decided to meet regularly. Sometimes we went shopping together. At other times we cooked and ate together. If we had time we went to the gym to do some exercises. We practiced speaking in English, but most of the time we just talked in Chinese, sharing our stories of growing up in China and our present studies in Canada. Thus we had already engaged in living and telling our stories of ourselves. To use Clandinin and Connelly's terms, I began my research project with my participants "in the middle

of a nested set of stories" (ibid. p. 63). As I began my research work with them, "we began to tell and live new stories. Within the inquiry field, we lived out stories, told stories of those experiences, and modified them by retelling them and reliving them" (ibid. p. 71).

When a narrative research project begins, researchers need to constantly negotiate, constantly reevaluate, and maintain "flexibility and openness to an everchanging landscape" (ibid. p. 71). They need to work through several forms of negotiations.

Negotiating relationships. Shortly after I met Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose, we started our weekly session of English conversation practice. As time went by, we knew one another better and an intimate relationship was developed. "We girls trust you, Lisa! You are our friend and mentor!" they once told me. In those weekly conversations, we shared stories of our lives in both China and Canada, but most of our stories centered around our schooling experiences in the two countries. When I started to feel vaguely where these conversations were leading me, I told them that I wanted to write something about me and them. At that time, I had no idea what my research focus would be, but they were excited when I invited them to share their stories with me on my research journey. This friendship-based research relationship played a very important part in the whole research process.

Negotiating purposes. In narrative inquiry, researchers find themselves continually explaining what they are trying to do. "One soon discovers (if one pays close attention to these explainings) that one is never too clear on what one is up

to" (ibid. p. 73). Because of my personal narrative history, at the beginning of this study, I was very much interested in the role that the English language played in these four students' adjustment process into the Canadian culture. What language difficulties did they experience? How did they cope with them? Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose wanted to know ways to improve their English proficiency quickly so that they could study more efficiently. Later, I found that my interest shifted to the comparison between the Chinese and Canadian school cultures. What were the similarities and differences between these two cultures? Why did they feel very uncomfortable in a Canadian classroom during the first month or two? On different occasions, Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose asked me whether I was getting what I wanted and if "it was helpful". "As the explaining takes place, clarification and shaping of purpose occurs" (ibid. p. 73). Finally, I realized that what I really wanted to explore was their overall transitional experiences of studying and living in a new culture. Clearly purposes were negotiated over time and changed to meet the needs of all participants.

Negotiating Transitions. In narrative inquiry, researchers need to negotiate many transitions as they move from field to field texts to research texts. The most dramatic transitions are the beginnings and endings. Above, I described negotiating the beginnings.

Though highly variable from person to person and place to place, narrative inquiries do end, at least in a formal sense. Reports are written, dissertations written, people move, funding stops (ibid. p. 74).

This negotiating of the final transition is "critical to the trust and integrity of the work that researchers do not simply walk away when 'their time has come'" (ibid.

p. 74). In my case, the research relationship may come to an end, but our friendship remains. We still meet one another often, talk over the phone for half an hour once in a while, and get together for good food, relaxation, and entertainment occasionally. I feel a commitment to them and am happy and willing to help them get through their studies for the years to come. Obviously this negotiation of exit was extremely important to the quality relationship between the researcher and the participants.

Negotiating a Way to be Useful. During the early days in the field, it is important for researchers to find a place in the field. "One can be 'there' and feel like one does not quite belong" (ibid. p. 75). However, during my research journey, I always felt that I could play a part in the "field". I was there when Rose needed a listener. I was there when Jasmine wanted some advice on her English essay writing. I was there when Magnolia panicked that she could not hand in her chemistry report on time because she could not print it out. I was there when Mei needed a partner to play badminton with.

Because Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei, Rose and I share the same Chinese language and culture and because we all moved from China to Canada for further studies in 1998, I was an "insider" for them. Through our common cultural background I could help them understand their new environment. Sometimes we went shopping together. Sometimes we cooked and ate together. This intimate involvement enabled me to "grasp the huge number of events and stories, the many twisting and turning narrative threads" (ibid. p. 77) that were/are "at work in the

moment-by-moment relationships and happenings" (ibid. p. 76) and "taken-for-grantedness" (ibid. p. 76) between me and my participants.

Though narrative inquiry is often associated with story recording and telling, it is "much more than 'look for and hear story'. Narrative inquiry in the field is a form of living, a way of life" (ibid. p. 78). In my case, narrative inquiry is "trying to make sense of life as lived (ibid. p. 78). I not only told stories of myself and my participants, but also recorded "actions, doings, and happenings, all of which are narrative expressions" (ibid. p. 79).

As researchers begin work on a research project, they and their participants are beginning to author a new story, a story of growth and transformation in the life stories of both the researchers and their participants. Clandinin and Connelly (2000) caution that

...difficult as it may be to tell a story, the more difficult but important task is the retelling of stories that allow for growth and change....in the construction of narratives of experience, there is a reflexive relationship between living a life story, telling a life story, retelling a life story, and reliving a life story (p. 71).

Composing field texts is one way of telling and living, retelling and reliving a life story, which helps the researcher make meaning from those stories. It is extremely necessary for narrative inquirers to construct field texts all the time as field texts can "aid the inquirer to move back and forth between full involvement with participants and distance from them" (ibid. p. 80).

Stage Two: From Field to Field Texts (Being in a Place of Stories)

Field texts, the data of narrative inquiry, are "created, neither found nor discovered, by participants and researchers in order to represent aspects of field experience" (ibid. p. 92). Composing field texts is an interpretive process, during which both researchers and their participants are selective, consciously or less consciously, about what turns up in field texts. Writing field texts also expresses the relationship of researcher to participant in that "[t]he field texts created may be more or less collaboratively constructed, may be more or less interpretive, and may be more or less researcher influenced" (ibid. p. 95).

There are a variety of field texts that narrative inquirers can employ and interweave in their research: autobiographical writing; journal writing; field notes; letters; conversations; research interviews; family stories; documents; photographs, memory boxes, and other personal-family-social artifacts; and life experience (ibid. p. 93).

In my research study, I chose to use the following kinds of field texts:

Autobiographical writing as field text. When I took a course with Dr. Jean Clandinin, she encouraged all the course participants to start narrative inquiry by writing an autobiography to search for their narrative beginnings of their research puzzles. I did find mine in the process! My transitional experience in the first month of my master's studies in Edmonton reminded me of an earlier childhood experience, when I moved from my grandmother's big and spacious countryside house to a small and crowded city apartment in China. The link is that at both times I experienced "culture shock" (Oberg, 1960; see also Adler, 1975; Adler,

1991; Barna, 1998; Bennett, 1977; Furnham & Bochner, 1986; Harris, 1985). "Autobiographical writing is a way to write about the whole context of a life" (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000, p. 101). Through reading my stories, even though only selected pieces of my life experience, readers will learn something about my family life, something about the living conditions in Shanghai at that time, something about my parents both working full-time, and so forth. However, Clandinin and Connelly remind narrative inquirers to "recognize that any piece of autobiographical writing is 'a particular reconstruction of an individual's narrative, and there could be other reconstructions'" (as cited in Clandinin & Connelly, 2000, p. 101).

Journal writing as field text. I had kept journals for many years as a reflection on my life as a daughter, a student, a teacher, a wife, and a mother. However, keeping a research journal was different. During my research journey, I kept my journal whenever I felt that I needed to write about my feelings, thoughts, reactions, and questions after I talked with my participants or something happened in their lives or my own life. It helped me to better understand myself as a researcher, a teacher, a student, and above all, as a human being. It also helped me to gain insights into their situations, which in turn helped to strengthen our relationships. However, even though I recognized the power of journal writing, I did not ask Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose to keep a journal for me for two reasons. First, they were very busy with their course work, assignments, and exams. I felt it would be an extra burden for them as they already had a very tight class schedule. Sometimes they had to stay up until two or three o'clock in the

morning in order to finish reading articles or writing essays. Second, writing journals in the English language would be too demanding and time-consuming for them as their language abilities were still limited.

Conversations as field text. Clandinin and Connelly (2000) note that "conversations are marked by equality among participants and by flexibility to allow participants to establish forms and topics appropriate to their group inquiry" (p. 108). Because of the nature of my research puzzles, on-going conversations with my participants played a very significant part in the data collection process. We spent two or three hours every Saturday afternoon during the months of October, November and December of 1999, talking about our schooling experiences in both China and Canada. All the conversations were tape-recorded and later transcribed. The transcripts were shared for accuracy.

Then, based on the transcripts as well as the content of our informal conversations, I would write a constructed story or stories about their experiences and send it or them back to Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose via electronic mail to confirm the accuracy of my accounts. Because of our different class schedules, it was difficult for me to meet all of them at the same time for discussion. So we decided to do it via e-mail as this would allow them to read and give me feedback when they had time. This proved to be a convenient and efficient means of communication. I would make all of the changes they requested. Sometimes they would write me or tell me more stories around the topics.

Stage 3: From Field Texts to Research Texts (Making Meaning of Experience)

As narrative inquirers move from field texts to research texts, they need to find a way to select and fit together the various kinds of field texts into an overall narrative text (ibid. p. 139). That is, they need to "hold different field texts in relation to other field texts" (ibid. p. 131) in order to construct a "chronicled or summarized account of what is contained within different sets of field texts" (ibid. p. 131). They may find themselves reading and rereading field texts for many hours to look for "the patterns, narrative threads, tensions, and themes either within or across an individual's experience and in the social setting" (ibid. p. 132) in order to make meaning of their experiences.

In my research study, after all field texts were coded and sorted by type (Personal journal, E-mail messages, Transcripts, etc.), by person (J, Mei, M, or R) and by date, I developed narrative accounts from those sources. These accounts were then shared with my participants. For the most part, this was done through e-mailing back and forth with my participants. Based on their feedback, I revised those accounts and then sent them back to them again for response. Through several cycles of such interactions, meanings were clarified and the inquiry continued.

Then, I read and reread those accounts and found the recurring narrative threads which were important for the students and myself (such as homesickness, language difficulty and financial concern). These narrative threads became a filter, which allowed me to examine the students' transitional experiences. When I

reconstructed stories of each student's transitional experiences, it made possible for me to examine the continuity of the students' learning experiences (Yeom, 1996).

John Dewey (as cited in Clandinin & Connelly, 2000) holds that "one criterion of experience is continuity, namely, the notion that experiences grow out of other experiences, and experiences lead to further experiences" (p. 2). Because present experience builds upon previous experience we cannot understand present experience without knowing what came before. How the four students, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose, construct their meaning in Canada is rooted in their experience in China. Therefore, in order to understand the students' transitional experience we need to understand their experience in China and then follow them into Canada.

In chapter three, I will tell stories of Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose in their Chinese high schools in order to help readers understand their experiences and who they were in China. In chapter four, I will tell stories of Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose in a Canadian high school and in chapter five I will tell stories of their experiences in a Canadian university. I will end each of these three chapters by writing a personal reflection on my research questions to make sense of their experiences. In Chapter six, some suggestions and recommendations to both parents and educators in China and educators in Canada will be offered in the form of three letters.

Chapter Three Being Told What To Do: High school experience in China

Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose were born around 1980, when the Chinese government officially adopted the one-child policy. Except Rose, who has an elder sister, the other three students are each the only child of their respective families. They were called a new generation of *xiao huang di* ("little emperors"), whose lives were taken very good care of by their parents. When they started school, their lives were again arranged and taken care of by parents and teachers so well that the only thing they had to do was what they were told! They did not have to do any housework. All their time and energy were directed to study school subjects in order to get sufficient marks to go to the best elementary school, the best junior high school, the best senior high school and in the end, the best university, which would ensure them better jobs after graduation.

Marks

For Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose, the senior high school years were the most critical as they had to sit for the annual life-or-death National College Entrance Examination (NCEE) at the end of their three years of studies. Their marks on the NCEE would determine which university they could go to, which area of study they could apply for and ultimately what job they could find in their future. As a result, their high school days in China were filled with endless exercises and homework as their main purpose was to pass the NCEE in order to go to university. Every morning they got up and went to school to have four

classes. After lunch there were another two classes. For each class they were assigned considerable amount of homework and they usually had to do their homework until late at night.

Mei recounted her high school experience, which was typical for a Chinese high school student:

I had a very tough time in high school. I had to study Monday through Friday from 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 mid-night, during which I stayed in school with my classmates from 7:00 a.m. to 9:30 p.m. Even Saturday and Sunday mornings, we still had to go to school!

Senior high school years were very important for us because our marks on the school subjects would determine our future lives. If we could get sufficient marks on the National College Entrance Examination, we would go to top universities, which would ensure us better jobs after graduation. Therefore, we were under great pressures from our parents, our teachers, and even ourselves to excel in our academic studies. We had to always focus our attention and time on the school subjects. We did not have any free time to develop our personal interests, such as drawing, dancing, and other non-academic activities.

Magnolia echoed Mei in saying that:

I had no time to do what I wanted because I spent so much time in school. I had wished that I could have time to take a walk, to go to the ocean, to write something, or even to talk to my parents and have some communication with my friends, but I had no time.

And Rose complained that:

the questions/problems about our school subjects were very difficult to figure them out. We had to spend a lot of time on them. There were so many problems/questions that our homework just seemed endless.

As for Jasmine, her high school experience was a bit different from the other three students. Her parents sent her to a boarding school in order to raise her

marks on the school subjects so that she could have a better chance of going to university.

My high school was a boarding school in the countryside. It was a very strict school. I went to that school because the rate of going to university was very high. I didn't like that school very much, but I regained my confidence in that school because my scores on exams were very low when I first came to that school. After three years' hard work, they were improved and I had my confidence back. This was due to the school

atmosphere. All the students were studying and I had to work hard too. We got up at 5:20 in the morning and went out for jogging. At six o'clock we began our morning self-study and then we had breakfast. We started our first class at seven and studied till 9:30 in the evening. We had no time to think about other non-school-related things.

I did not like the teachers there because of their manners and the way they treated the students: they beat students; they did not treat students fairly; and in the hot summer months we could only take showers twice a week. Nor did I like the strange rules in that school. There were lots of rules. For example, in spring and summer, we were asked to catch mice in our living-room and bedrooms and to catch a certain number of flies to hand in every week. They made this rule in order to keep the whole school clean. We had mice in our bedrooms. They came to our beds and ate our food. Three students shared two beds and all the beds were joined together.

When Mei commented that Jasmine's high school was just like a jail, Jasmine disagreed.

Although I did not like some aspects of that school, I really appreciated the time I had spent there. I began to understand my mother and found out that she really cared for me and loved me.

I did not get along with my mother in my junior high school. She was very rude to me whenever I got bad marks on my exams. I felt oppressed and was unhappy. I used to be a very good student in elementary school, but when I went to junior high school, I became very common since there were many good students there.

My marks went sharply down and I became a silent student in my class all day long. In fact, I was so lack of confidence that I even did not dare to make friends with my classmates.

My mother always required me to be a top student, but I always disappointed her in my junior high years. In fact, I even failed to reach the minimum requirement mark on the Junior High School Leaving Exam in order to go to a senior high school. Fortunately, the fact that I could play the piano helped me to get additional marks so that I could go to senior

high school. Because of that, my mother was more disappointed about me and I thought that she even felt ashamed of me. I was no longer a beautiful white swan, but a small ugly duckling in my junior high school.

However, when I went to that boarding school, my mother no longer cared too much about my marks because the majority of the students there were academically very strong. Instead, she always encouraged me to try my best. She came to visit me every weekend. Perhaps she was happy that I could stand the bad living conditions and strict school regulations and rules there. I was happy, too. I had some freedom to deal with my own feelings and thoughts without her control.

Because I did not feel pressured and I studied very hard every day, my marks on the exams became better and better. As a result, I gained my confidence back.

While listening to Jasmine's high school experience, I could not help thinking about my own. My parents chose to send me to live in my senior high school for the same reason: to concentrate on my studies in order to get sufficiently high marks to go to university.

It was an elite school and students from other far-away districts in the city would stay during the week and go home at weekend.

It was the first time I left home and lived on my own. I knew I needed a lot of self-control and discipline to make the most out of it. So, right from the start, I established some daily routines for myself. Every morning I got up at 5:30 and went to the playground for jogging. I always took my mini portable radio with me so that I could listen to the English teaching and learning programs on air while doing exercises. After having breakfast at 6:30, I would go straight into the classroom and did morning self-study until 8 o'clock when the first class of the day started. We had four classes in the morning and two in the afternoon. I spent the rest of the afternoon finishing my homework or going to the school library to read books and magazines. The evening self-study started right after dinner at 6:30 in the school library, where a librarian, a very serious-looking lady in her forties, was in charge of us, about sixty students who lived in the school during the week. She made sure that every student was studying.

I had my reward for my diligence. I graduated from that high school with high marks on all my school subjects. As a matter of fact, I scored among the top ten students in my class on the annual National College Entrance Examination in July 1985 and was admitted to one of the finest universities in China.

Marks played such an important part in students' lives in China that their self-worth, self-esteem and self-confidence were defined by their marks in schools. They were "good students" in the eyes of their parents, their teachers and even themselves only when they could obtain good marks on their report cards. Like Jasmine, who lost her self-confidence in her junior high school because of her low marks, Magnolia and I both suffered from the loss of our self-confidence when we went to our senior high schools. Though a decade apart, Magnolia's experience resonated with my own.

Lisa:

Because of my high marks on the Municipal Senior High School Entrance Examination, I left my non-elite junior high school and entered an elite senior high school in Shanghai with high expectations and a bright future in my mind. I even sat on the student committee, in charge of the social events and activities of the class. However, I soon realized that I needed to work harder on my studies as the majority of my classmates had spent their junior high school years in the same high school. Though we learned the same subjects, they studied them in more depth and width. I had a lot to catch up with.

However, no matter how hard I tried, I had difficulty with physics and chemistry and math and most of my marks were below 60. By the end of first term, I lost all my self-confidence. My English and Chinese remained at the top of the class, but that could not save me. I talked to my home class teacher and the chairperson of the student committee that I would resign from my position. I told them that they should find a better committee member than me.

I did not improve much in the second term of grade 10. To make matters worse, I started to build walls around myself. I had no confidence that my classmates would want to make friends with me, so I just avoided them. Only one girl managed to break my walls and we became good friends and have remained so up till now.

At that time, it was a norm that by the end of grade 10 students would either select or be recommended by their home class teachers to study either Arts or Sciences according to their academic performances on related subject areas. Students then would spend two years, grade 11 and 12, preparing for the National College Entrance Examination, which was held once a year in early July.

If a student chose Arts, it was generally assumed that s/he could not do well in sciences. The following saying was very popular then: Xue Hao Shu Li Hua, Zou Bian Tian Xia Dou Bu Pa ("Study Math, Physics and Chemistry well and you can get whatever job you want"). No student wanted to study Arts if there was a slim chance that s/he could study sciences in university.

Without any doubt, I chose the route to Arts. I could not survive in the science world in any way. In my high school, there were 6 classes in one grade and each class had 42 students. However, we had only one Arts class with 40 students for grade 11 and 12.

I was pleased to get rid of physics and chemistry for good, but I had to study math, as math would still be included in the 6 test subjects. The other five were Chinese, English, Geography, History and Politics. The majority of test items in those subject areas required rote learning and I was good at memorization. So I found them easy to study. As I regained my confidence in my studies, I started to break those walls which isolated me from others. I had more and more friends.

Magnolia:

I had been very successful from elementary school to junior high. In fact, I was among the best ones. However, after I went to the senior high, I failed completely in the first year. During the physics, chemistry and math classes I wanted to sleep. I was only good at Chinese. My English was so-so. You can't imagine how bad my marks were on my physics, chemistry and math. So I lost my confidence because I was so excellent before. It was a turning point in my life. It was really hard and I could not face the reality at that time.

In grade 11, we were allowed to choose either the Arts route or the Science route. I chose the Arts. When I first moved to this Arts class, I wanted to go back to my Science class. I wasn't sure what I was able to do in that class. I couldn't find my place there. I was still in the shadow of failure of my grade 10. But two weeks later, everything was new for me. I was elected to sit on the class committee, in charge of the hygiene of the class. I worked very hard. Sometimes I did many things all by myself without telling anybody else. Somehow someone was watching and later my home class teacher knew about it.

In that year I studied very well and I regained my self-confidence for two main reasons. First, I was very interested in arts, history and Chinese. I could handle them very well and with ease. Second, my home class teacher was very close to us. Because she was young we never called her Teacher ____, but just her name. She taught us in the manner as if we were friends. We could learn from each other and we could tell her what was on our minds. She was very friendly. That helped me to go through

that horrible period of my life. I was able to complete my high school successfully.

Lack of Time and Freedom

The more time students spent on school subjects and in schools, the less time they had for their own personal interests, or even their own thoughts. As a matter of fact, even if they had been given the freedom and time to cultivate their interests other than school subjects, they would have felt guilty because they were "playing and wasting their precious time". They knew how much their parents had done for their education.

Parental Sacrifices

Knowing that their parents were frugal in family spending in order to save money for their future education, students in China had no choice but to study hard. Jasmine recalled what her parents had done for her education.

My mother did not have the chance to go to university because of the Wen Hua Da Ge Ming ("Grand Cultural Revolution", 1966-1976) although she was very smart and hard-working. Therefore, she has very high expectations of me and hopes that I can fulfil her dream. My family is not rich, but my mother is good at saving money. She has spent a lot of money on me and my education without the slightest hesitancy. She bought me a piano when I was only six years old. She found a tutor to teach me how to play the piano for ten years. She sent me to the boarding school so that I could concentrate on my studies.

Jasmine's story brought forth my own memory of what my parents have done for me.

In order to help me with my studies when I went to a non-elite junior high school, my parents bought two "luxuries": a nine-inch black and white TV set and later an imported Sanyo mono tape-recorder. I still

remember the sensations it stirred up in our old neighborhood when my father carried that small TV set home on his bike. It was just after the Grand Cultural Revolution (1966-1976) when consumer goods were very scarce. In fact, it was among the first TV sets that a Shanghai factory produced after the Grand Cultural Revolution. I remember that after dinner, some neighbors would come to our 14X14 square meter room to enjoy a very limited number of TV shows.

That TV set gave me extra help with my studies. I remember every day after school I would come home, sit on a small stool and pull a bigger one in front of me so that I could take notes while listening to the lectures of different school subjects on TV. My favorite TV educational program was, of course, an English teaching and learning TV series called *Follow Me*. I still remember the TV hostess' name, Catherine Flower, a British lady, who led me into the world of English language and its people as I followed her every other day.

While my parents did not hesitate to buy the black-and-white TV set, it took them quite a while to make the decision to buy that Sanyo mono tape-recorder, a very expensive imported commodity at that time, when a neighbor, a junior high school English teacher, offered my father the certificate because he himself could not afford it. I remember its price was RMB \$220 and the tapes cost RMB \$5.50 each. (In fact, it would be easier for them to give me US \$20,000 now than to spend that amount of money then.) At that time, with RMB \$0.10 we could buy two pounds of vegetables.

My parents' monthly salary was RMB \$54 then. It meant two month's total family income for them. My parents finally bought the tape-recorder and five tapes for me. Perhaps they saw my love for languages, perhaps they believed that it would pay off in the long run, perhaps... I could never figure out. But I knew they always believed that investment in the education of their children was worthwhile.

I still kept that old model of Sanyo tape-recorder and the five tapes in my desk drawer back in Shanghai though I hardly used them any more. They had been my companions for eight years until my parents bought me another radio/tape-recorder when I was a third-year university student. I will never throw them away because they are a constant reminder of how much my parents have done for me.

My Reflection on the Research Question

Because of the one-child policy and parental sacrifices and because of the examination-oriented education system, in order to move ahead Chinese students had to go through a very rigorous selection process, during which marks on

examinations were the only criteria of academic success. Obtaining high marks became their only goal in school. They were told to study, study and study by parents, teachers, and even themselves. They had no time or freedom for any non-school-related activities.

The rigid Chinese school system valued "rote learning, keen competition and examination" (Sheh, 1994, p. 15), which led to many students' lack of intellectual curiosity, unwillingness to discuss academic problems, and a tendency to cling to the authority of the teachers and the printed texts (Sheh, 1994, p. 15). Chinese students were passive learners and had little control over their studies or lives. When some of these students came to Canada for their further education, they experienced adjustment problems while studying in a vastly different education system and culture.

Chapter Four Not Knowing What To Do: High school experience in Canada

While the biggest issues to Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose in China were obtaining high marks in school, lacking freedom and time to do what they wanted and having parental sacrifice and pressure to excel academically, very different obstacles appeared when they came to Canada in 1998 to pursue their first university degree. Disappointments and feeling empty, language difficulty, and homesickness had to be overcome during the first year of their sojourn experience.

Disappointment and Feeling Empty

In order to prepare them for a new education system and to pass the TOEFL test, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose attended a university preparation program in a high school in Edmonton after they arrived in Canada in September 1998.

However, "disappointing and empty" were the two words uttered most frequently by these four female students when I asked them about their preparation program at the high school. Having paid RMB \$150,000 (CND \$25,000) in China for their housing, meals and tuition for the first year and the application and handling fee, they were disappointed that they had to live in a crowded apartment. Four students shared a two-bedroom unit. The variety and quality of their meals were also "unsatisfactory" and "disappointing".

With CND \$8,000 for their one-year tuition, they were disappointed to find out that they did not have an ESL teacher when the school term began in

September 1998. In the end, a teacher, who was three months pregnant, volunteered to teach them the first term. The school did find an experienced ESL teacher for the second term starting January 1999, but it was too late for them as they would sit for the TOEFL test in May. They regretted that they had wasted four months because "they did not study as hard as they should have".

Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose felt "empty" and at a loss when they studied in that high school. They had much less homework and it was much easier for them, especially math and chemistry. They could finish their homework in school. With so much time at their disposal, they did not know how to manage the time, how to fill the vast amount of time which they had yearned for so much back in China.

Jasmine's feeling of unhappiness was typical. "I was not happy. I didn't have lots of things to do and I felt empty." She said. Rose complained that,

I wasted my money and time. I regretted that I just waste one year and did nothing. If I had known better I would have studied TOEFL in China. I think I can get a much higher mark on TOEFL that way. Teachers here are nice, but they do not know how to teach for exams.

And Mei reflected that.

I don't think I learned a lot in that high school because I was lazy. I didn't work hard enough. The teacher didn't give too much homework as the Chinese teachers did.

As a matter of fact, they had so much time after homework was done that *Mei* would move her mattress to Jasmine and Magnolia's bedroom and the three of them would share their thoughts and feelings about everything till midnight every day, of course, in their mother tongue, Chinese.

Living with her cousin's family, Rose spent her spare time sleeping and daydreaming about going to university. She thought that she should have spent more time on her studies. Sometimes she did not finish her homework. Sometimes she just came home and slept.

Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose were so accustomed to have their lives arranged by parents and teachers and have their days filled with school work in China that they were at a loss what to do with their lives in a new education system.

Language Difficulty

Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose came to Canada for their first university degree. However, in order to be admitted to the U of A, they had to obtain a score of at least 580 on the TOEFL test, a language requirement for international students whose mother tongues are not English. Therefore, they devoted all their time and energy to the study of TOEFL for the second half of their first year.

When I asked them how they felt about their English when they first came to Canada, they thought that at least their grammar was acceptable. Speaking and listening were very difficult for them as they had very few opportunities to listen to or speak to native speakers back in China.

While in China, Jasmine and Rose had some intensive English courses in addition to their high school English classes. Jasmine went to Beijing to study TOEFL in a language institute. Rose once told me that,

I took an intensive English course for one year before I came to Canada. My professor was from a local university. He taught listening and speaking.

I had three classes every week for listening. I probably had more practice than an average high school student. At that time, I also went to an English corner (a place where people of all ages go regularly at a certain time and talk in English, usually on Saturday or Sunday, in the parks) in one of the parks in the city. However, I just listened to other people talking. I was shy and did not talk to anybody. There were some native speakers of English and many people talked to them in order to practice their English.

However, even with "extra" access to the English language in China, Jasmine and Rose were not ready to cope with using English with native speakers on a daily basis. Both of them, as well as Magnolia and *Mei*, regretted that they saw the main purpose of learning English in China as just to pass the exams, and that they had no need or desire to use English as a means of communication.

When they started their university preparation program in that high school, they were given a test on English. Most of the test items were on listening comprehension and they did poorly on that test. Magnolia was so upset about her "weak" English that she did not even feel like going to school any more. She had no confidence that she was "good enough to enter university". And Jasmine said,

Because my English was poor I even hated to go to the classes except English and Math. I felt really awkward in those classes, especially when I was the only Chinese student who spoke broken English!

Mei and Rose both worried whether they could reach the minimum requirement score of 580 within such a short period of time.

Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose sat for their TOEFL test in May 1999 and none of them reached 580. However, they all scored above 530 and were admitted into their undergraduate programs on the condition that they should take an intensive ESL course in their first term at the U of A.

Homesickness

Except Jasmine, who went to a boarding school for three years and who was eager to leave her mother because "she always controlled my life", it was the first time for Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose to leave their parents and live on their own. They were very homesick during the first two months.

Rose:

I lived with my mother for 20 years. This is the first time I left her so far away. It's really hard for me. For the first two months in Edmonton, I wrote so many letters to her, but half a year later I got her first letter to me! I decided to call her instead.

Magnolia:

The second or third month I came to Edmonton I got very homesick. I cried on the phone while talking to my mother. The next day my father phoned me. He was very angry because he told me that my mother was so sad when she heard me crying on the phone. After that, I never cried over the phone.

Mei:

I would miss my parents when I was unhappy or had difficulty with my studies. This is the first time I leave them. At home they always did everything for me. My parents thought that I could not handle it. Before my mother came to Edmonton to visit me in February 1999, she could not sleep well or eat well. She misses me very much. After she saw that I could handle, she did not worry that much any more.

While listening to their stories, I could not help thinking about my own. I still remember how homesick I was during the first two months in Jasper. Even though I was with my husband, whom I really love, I was homesick. I missed my family, especially my one-and-a-half-year-old daughter. I repeatedly thought to myself that it was a big mistake to come to Canada and that China was a better

place to be. Many a time, tears filled my eyes for no obvious reason at all. Later, when I moved to Edmonton for my master's program and had problems with my two roommates, I was even more homesick. On many occasions, I thought to myself that I should go back to China instead of living such a meaningless life in Edmonton!

Clearly, the fall of 1998 was the most difficult period for Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei*, Rose and myself as we moved to a new city in a new country to further our education. Like most international students, we experienced a range of feelings and reactions in this new culture and started to question ourselves what made us come here in the first place.

Coming from a very different culture, we had difficulty adjusting to our new environment. We had to cope with reelings of disappointments and frustrations, language difficulty, and homesickness.

My Reflection on the Research Question

At high schools in China, Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose studied the same prescribed textbooks regardless of the different regions they came from. They went to classes, listened to lectures, took notes, did their homework, and passed their tests. There was so much homework to do after school and so many tests to write in school that they could not find time even to talk to their parents, let alone to play with their friends.

They were so accustomed to being told what to do in China that they did not know what to do when they found out that school days in Canada are shorter

and that students go to classes only between 8:30 a.m. and 3:30 p.m. Students in Canada do not worry about any entrance exams. There is no such an exam in Canada. Whether a student is eligible to go to university or not depends on his/her overall academic performance throughout their senior high school years.

Since Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose had completed their high school education in China before they came to Canada, they did not worry about their marks on math, chemistry and other school subjects while in that university preparation program in that high school. However, they were anxious about their lack of English proficiency. On the one hand, they needed to pass the TOEFL test; on the other hand, they knew their language ability would ultimately determine how well they would function in this new education system and in this new country.

As English is a foreign language in China, many Chinese students only study it as a school subject, not as a means of communication. Therefore, when these students come to English-speaking countries, they find a huge gap between what they have learned in China and the real English people here actually use.

Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose had learned English for seven years before they arrived in Canada, four years in junior high school and three years in senior high. Their teachers taught English in Chinese. Sometimes in senior high school, they used English. They were required to recite whole paragraphs from their English textbooks. English was just a subject to study. They never thought that they should be able to use it, to speak it, or to understand it. In their minds if

they could pass the exams they were doing just fine. They just memorized whatever the teacher taught them.

Lack of English language proficiency poses as one of the biggest challenges in their first year in a foreign land (Feng, 1991; Sheh, 1994; Sun & Chen, 1997). Meanwhile, they also had to adapt to a different education system in which the relationship between teachers and students and the roles of teachers and students were all vastly different from what they used to know (Arias, 1999; Brooks, 1997; Feng, 1991; Masur, 1998; Sun & Chen, 1997; Upton, 1989).

In China, teachers are seen as "all knowing, and the absolutely authority on the subject matter" (Brooks, 1997, p. 13) while students as empty receptacles, passively waiting to be filled up with knowledge (Masur, 1998). The relationship between teacher and student is very formal and rigid.

It is the duty of the students to give utmost respect to the teacher. To ask questions of the teacher, or to question the words of a teacher is tantamount to questioning the position of the teacher, and therefore is not a feature of Chinese classrooms (Brooks, 1997, p. 13).

Therefore, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose were surprised to experience the informal and friendly atmosphere in Canadian classrooms. As a matter of fact, in spite of their disappointment and other culture-shock-related uneasiness, all of them think positively about their two ESL teachers. Jasmine said,

the Canadian teachers were very helpful. They were very ready to help the students, not only with our study, but also with our life.

And Magnolia noticed that,

in China, the teacher always pushed you. But here the teacher sometimes pulled you. It's help and guide, never push too hard. Let yourself decide. I like it here.

Mei really appreciated that,

teachers here were more like friends. They were closer to their students. The atmosphere in the classroom was more informal and friendly.

And Rose commented that,

the relationship between student and teacher is different. In China, since elementary school we have learned that we must respect teachers. Whatever teacher say is a rule. We must do it. We can't say no. For example, if a teacher says "Today you must do this" and if you say no you will get into big trouble. But in Canada teacher and student are more like friends. Students can make fun of and tell jokes about their teachers, who may be offended sometimes, but most of the time it's O.K.

While in that Canadian high school, Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose also noticed that,

the teacher in Canada tries to open our mind, to lead us to think about some questions instead of feeding us the answers and asking us to memorize them. While in China, the teacher just gave us the formula, and ask us to focus on this kind of question. We would do our homework, practice for hours, memorize this formula and then we could get high marks.

Obviously, Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose were aware that there was a discrepancy between what they had known and learned in the Chinese education system and what they experienced in the Canadian high school classroom. Their assumptions about the relationship between teacher and student, the roles of teacher and student play in the learning process were challenged. They found out that they were forced to leave their comfortable shells, where everything was arranged well for them by their parents and teachers, and to enter an unknown water, where they were never sure what the future would hold for them. However,

at the same time, all of them admitted that they had become more mature persons because of this unsettling sojourn experience.

Chapter Five Learning to Know What to Do: University Experience in Canada

In moving to a high school in Canada, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose learned to overcome many challenges, such as disappointments and feelings of emptiness, language difficulty and homesickness. Their transition to university was fraught with additional challenges: financial concerns, stress of decision-making, and academic difficulties.

Financial Concerns

According to the research literature, financial difficulty tops the list of issues and concerns international students have to face while studying in a foreign country (Arias, 1999; Feng, 1991), especially for those who move from a developing country to a developed one, e.g. from China to Canada.

As for Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose coming to Canada for their post-secondary education, they found, to their astonishment, that everything in Canada is far too expensive for them: tuition, clothing, food, accommodation, and transportation. They have learned to cope with this difficult situation by starting part-time jobs for the first time in their lives.

Tuition

As international students with student visas, they have to pay 100% differential fee, which means their tuition fees are doubled as compared with that of Canadian citizens or landed immigrants. With an annual tuition fee of more

than CND \$8,000 they have very little money at their disposal for their daily living expenses. (CND \$1.00 = RMB \$6.00. CND \$8,000 means RMB \$48,000. If a family could put aside RMB \$500 a month it would take them eight years to save that amount of money.) So they have to learn to survive on a very tight budget.

Clothing

In China, during wintertime, a change of clothing once a week was sufficient. Only in summer, daily changing is necessary. However, because of different fashions, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose needed to change their clothes every day in Edmonton. They found out that it was very expensive to buy new clothes in Canada. Back in China they could buy good quality blouses with only RMB \$60 (CND \$10). Magnolia once said to me, "Can you imagine that for the first year in Edmonton the only clothing I ever bought was a dozen socks!" Rose was "sick of wearing the same clothes all the time". She felt uncomfortable when she was invited to join her friends for a social event.

Food

They learned to look out for discounts on almost everything on their weekly grocery shopping list. They learned to compare prices at different stores for the same item and always go for the bargain. With RMB \$3.00 (CND \$0.50) they could buy either a dozen eggs or three pounds of vegetables in China. It was no wonder that Rose told me, "I would rather walk three or four blocks farther to buy some pears, that are 20 cents per pound cheaper. Now every cent counts

here!" For them, it is a real challenge to eat healthy food on a low budget. *Mei* and Magnolia have come up with the idea that they eat together in order to have more variety in their daily diet.

Accommodation

Due to financial constraints, they also had to live in shared accommodations. It took them a lot of time to find a place they could afford. In selecting an abode, they had to take into consideration two major factors: location and rent. The place had to be within walking distance of the U of A so that they did not have to buy monthly bus passes during the warmer months. (These passes cost CND \$50.00 each, which meant a whole month's salary for an average Chinese worker not long ago.) Furthermore, the rent had to be within their financial limit. These two factors usually left them with few choices.

When I first met them, Jasmine, *Mei* and Magnolia lived in an one-bedroom apartment in the basement of an apartment building, 20 minutes walking distance from the university. They paid CND \$140.00 each. They put three mattresses on the floor in the bedroom and their desks occupied three corners of the living room. They did not have a TV or VCR here for quite a while. But in China, all of them had those "luxuries". Rose lived with her cousin's family for a year and a half until her efforts to get along with them failed again and again. She needed some distance and space to sort things out. So in January 2000 she decided to move into the apartment with the other young women and slept in the living room for five months before they moved to a two-bedroom apartment, not far away

from the old one, in June 2000. As it was very crowded in their apartment, most of the time they had to study in the libraries or lounges on campus.

<u>Transportation</u>

Except Jasmine, who can afford to buy the monthly bus passes, Magnolia, Mei and Rose tend to walk or to bike to and from the university between the months of April and October. For the remaining five or six months they had to take the bus because the long snowy Canadian winter was just "too freezing for them to walk for more than five minutes".

Edmonton transit system is convenient during the week, but not on weekends, especially on Sundays, when most of its bus routes operate on an hourly basis. It takes a very long time to get anywhere in the city.

Mei made this comment when she came to visit me one Sunday afternoon.

Learning to cope

In order to make their dreams of studying abroad come true, their families in China supported them financially. All of them agreed that without the money their parents had saved over the years they could never have come to Canada in the first place. However, with an annual cost of CND \$8,000 for their tuition, their parents' savings could not sustain them for very long. Therefore, Rose started to work in her cousin's restaurant as soon as she arrived in Edmonton in September 1998. By the end of 1999, *Mei* and Magnolia both began to look for part time jobs and Jasmine started her first job in the fall of 2000.

Being a graduate student, I was in a slightly better financial situation than they were. I could apply for graduate assistantships at the U of A. I had worked for 10 years in China before coming to Canada, so I had some savings. My husband and my parents both supported me financially so that I could concentrate on my studies and graduate as early as possible. However, I shared with Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose that everything in Canada was expensive, especially in those early months in Edmonton. I tended to convert every Canadian dollar I spent to Chinese RMB and found out that everything, from bread to rent, was shockingly expensive for me! My assistantship only covered part of my tuition; I bought and brought all my clothes from China; I learned to look for bargains for my grocery shopping; I lived in a four-bedroom unit in Hub instead of a two-bedroom one because I could save CND \$100 per month in rent; I chose to live on campus in order to save time and money travelling on buses.

As the above examples show, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei*, Rose and myself could never escape the "costs" of our limited budgets. We are constantly reminded of the fact that how expensive it is to live and study in Canada, how little money we have at our disposal, and how much our families have sacrificed in order to support our studies.

Stress of decision-making

Apart from the financial constraints they were experiencing, it was the first time ever in their lives that Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose had lived on their own. In China, students' lives in high school and university are arranged and taken

care of by parents and teachers to such a degree that the only thing students have to do is what they are told! Except Rose, who has a sister 20 years older, Jasmine, Mei and Magnolia are each the only child in their respective families. They were accustomed to having everything arranged for them by their parents. Their main task before coming to Canada was to study, study and study in order to get to university. They could be called the "princesses" of their family and had been taken very good care of at home by their parents. Magnolia once told me,

every morning my mother would ask me what I would like for dinner before she went to the market. But here in Edmonton, when exams were coming, I would just eat instant noodles. I could not spare any time for cooking and eating healthy meals. That would be an extra burden to me.

Despite the fact that they lived in a sea of homework and exercises back in China, they did not have to worry about other things in their lives, the seemingly trivial aspects in their daily living, such as shopping and cooking.

They were so used to being told what to do that it really was a challenge for them to live in a foreign country on their own for the first time. They were forced to make hundreds of decisions on a daily basis that they had not been prepared for. In Canada they had to make every single decision themselves regarding every aspect of their daily lives: which bank to choose to open their account in, where to live, where to shop, how to have a telephone hooked up, what major to study in, which courses to select, to name just a few. This change certainly caused a lot of stress. In addition to experiencing disappointment, frustration, impatience, anxiety and anger, all of them, at one time or another, suffered from stress-related

physiological symptoms such as sleeplessness, stomachaches, and headaches (Adler, 1991, p. 229).

Apart from their busy schedules at the university, they had to decide how many hours a week they could work in order to still maintain an average Grade Point Average (GPA), sufficient enough to keep them in the university. Otherwise they would have visa problems with Canadian Immigration. The tension between working to earn tuition and studying to stay is ever present. Rose is a good case in point. On several occasions she told me that she had to drop some classes in order to keep her GPA high enough to stay in the university. That was very expensive for her in terms of money, time and energy. As a result, she has learned to make very careful decisions when selecting courses for her second university term.

Academic Difficulties

Before entering the U of A, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose directed all their time and energy to the study of TOEFL in that high school because that was the only obstacle on their way to the university. However, as soon as they entered the university, they found out that in addition to studying in a second language they had to adjust themselves to too many things. For example, they had to decide what majors they should study. They needed to learn the new technology in order to survive in this information age. They had to change their study styles and manage their time better so that they could keep up with the rhythm and workload of this new education system. They needed to deal with the professor-student

relations more effectively. They had to study hard in order to maintain sufficiently high GPA.

Language Difficulties

Soon after they started their university lives, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose realized that passing the TOEFL test did not help them much in their daily academic activities. They encountered more language difficulties in the areas of listening, speaking, reading and writing at the U of A.

<u>Listening.</u> Understanding lectures was a major concern for Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose in their first term (fall term 1999) at the university. In early October 1999, *Mei* sent me the following e-mail message:

I always have some problems in my computer class. I can't understand what the professor is talking about and I have no confidence on it. I know I should study harder, but in fact I am tired of the course. Next week, I will have a mid-term exam. I don't know whether I can do well or not. Anyway, maybe I should pay more attention to it and I wish I could learn something in the class.

Mei's frustration of not understanding her professor in her computer class was obvious. In fact, even after going back home and reading the textbook again and again, she still could not understand the content. Only after she did the homework, could she understand a little.

"Why don't you ask your professor in class if you don't understand?" I asked Mei.

"Well, sometimes I ask him, but there are so many questions that I don't understand! If I ask him all the problems he will teach me the whole class." *Mei*

replied with resignation. In fact, all of these four female students shared the same feeling that going to lectures was futile. It did not help them at all. "How could I understand what the professor was talking about when I was still reading chapter 7 and he was teaching chapter 14!" Magnolia once told me in despair. Rose planned to take a mini tape-recorder to her class and tape-record the lecture so that she could listen to it again and again after class. However, she only tried it once and it failed! It so happened that she pushed the wrong button and instead of recording silently, the recorder played some loud music and the whole class laughed. She was so embarrassed that she did not dare to try again.

Speaking. Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose found it very difficult to take part in class discussions in their ESL class (Sometimes they just used Chinese!), to answer questions and ask questions in class. For one thing, they were not used to the discussion format; for another, their English ability prevented them from making any meaningful contributions to the class discussion.

In the case of Rose, who thought her listening and speaking English were better than her grammar and writing because she stayed with her cousin's family, where the language of communication was English, she later noted that it did not help very much with her academic studies.

Once I went to my math professor and tried to ask him some questions. But he had difficulty understanding what my question was! I had to write my questions on the blackboard in order to help him understand the questions. I did not know the math terms in English to make myself understood.

What Rose said reminded me of the notion about the difference between "basic interpersonal communication skills" (BICS) and "cognitive/academic

language proficiency" (CALP) (Cummins, 1980). I told Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose that it usually takes one to two years to acquire the basic language skills and five to seven years to acquire the academic ones in order to function comfortably in a second language setting. Instead of dreaming about learning a second language in one day, they should have a long-term plan so that they would not get anxious or discouraged easily.

Reading. Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose found their reading speed very slow, especially when they were studying content in which they had no prior knowledge, e.g. computers. Sometimes they had to read the same passage in a textbook many times. At other times, they did not know some of the idiomatic expressions in English, which also caused them a lot of headaches. Once they came across the phrase "by virtue of", they looked it up in the dictionary word by word, but could not make sense of what it meant. I told them that it was a "set phrase".

In China, English is taught intensively, i.e. emphasis is put on analyzing the sentence structures and memorizing vocabulary and selected paragraphs. Therefore, students tend to read English word by word. At the back of their minds, they always look for the subject of the sentence, the verb tense, the object, and so on. This habit dramatically slows down their reading speed. What's more, they are not trained to read for main ideas, the author's attitude, or the tone of the article.

Writing. Mei noted that the grammar she learned in China only helped her to get high test scores. When it came to essay writing, she still found many grammar problems in her essays.

For Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose, writing essays in English posed the biggest problem in their academic life and is still a problem now. Magnolia knew her essay needed correcting, but she could not figure out what her problems were. She just had this vague feeling that somehow it did not sound like "good" English. Mei also asked for my advice about what she should pay more attention to in essay writing.

As a matter of fact, they all chose to major in sciences in the first term so that they would not have to take English 101, which was a very difficult course for them. In that course they would be required to read and write extensively in English. Many of their friends had failed that course just because they could not write appropriate essays in English. (Happily, Jasmine took English 101 over the summer of 2000 and passed the course. Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose are taking it in the fall and winter term 2000-2001.)

Jasmine once told me that,

vocabulary and writing pose a big headache for us. We don't know how to use English...how to express our ideas clearly. My teacher's comments on my essays filled the whole page and I was discouraged and wondered whether I would ever improve my English writing.

In their research papers for the ESL course, their teacher often remarked that their writings were "illogical" and "incoherent". They had this tendency to jump to conclusions out of nowhere. I advised them to think the topic through

before they actually wrote about it and that whenever they made a statement or argument they should have supporting evidence. This was largely due to the difference in writing style in these two different cultures. While presenting one's ideas, a Canadian student writes directly, to the point and in a linear manner while a Chinese student's writing is indirect and implicit and tends to avoid self-expression. I also suggested that they write about their own ideas instead of guessing what the professor would like them to write about. In China, it was more important for them to get the correct answers from teachers, who did not encourage students to think critically and form their own ideas. Personal opinions are not valued in a Chinese classroom (Brooks, 1997, p. 15) as much as here in a Canadian classroom.

Choosing Majors

Apart from language difficulties, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose also had to face the challenges of studying in a new education system, where students take initiatives and make decisions for their own academic programs (Upton, 1989). Because of their backgrounds in China and because they were new to the Canadian system, it was really difficult for them to decide what they should study in the first term.

I still remember the beginning of my graduate program. When some professor or fellow student asked me what my research interest was I would just look confused. How could I know if my professor did not tell me! Soon I learned that I had to find my own research topic!

In October 1999, when I asked them what area of study they were interested in for their first university degrees, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose said that they were trying to "find" their majors! Because of their language deficiency, all of them went to the Faculty of Science at first.

Jasmine:

I planned to take biological engineering, but there is no such major at the U of A. Now I have no idea what to choose.

Magnolia:

I am still not sure about my area of study. At the beginning I wanted to study education, then I changed my mind and decided on business. I even thought of taking agriculture and computer science. Now I am in the Faculty of Science to study biology next year!

Mei:

I study computer science because it is important for me to find a job easily. I have no idea what my interest is. So I choose the one that will help me find a job.

Rose:

I have decided my goal since I was 13. I want to be a businesswoman. My major is computer science, my minor business. It's easier to find a job if I study computer. I also study economics and business.

However, at the end of 1999, they were not sure any more. Rose dropped out of her computer course at the end of the term for fear that she could not pass the final exam and that would affect her GPA. She selected a higher level course because she wanted to save money. That was a bad decision, she later told me. Computer was a brand new subject to them. They had a very hard time

understanding even the Chinese terminology, let alone the English one. Magnolia planned to drop her biology course in February 2000 when she felt that she did very poorly on her mid-term exam. She was still not sure what her major would be, but she knew she would not take biology.

As I am writing this thesis, Jasmine has been admitted to the Faculty of Engineering, doing chemical engineering while Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose are trying to get into the Faculty of Business. Magnolia and *Mei* both plan to take accounting, but Rose is still not sure what her major will be!

Learning New Technology

In addition to the language difficulties and the difficulty of choosing a major, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose had to learn many new things in their first term. They learned how to use computers to finish their assignments and lab reports, a skill which native Canadian students take for granted. They learned how to use the internet to search for useful information. They learned how to send and receive e-mails. They learned how to search the library system of the university to request and renew materials via the internet.

Study Styles and Time Management

By the end of their first term, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose had realized that they needed to change their old study methods and to manage their time better. During the term, all of them found out that they were always catching up with their studies. When exams came, they felt overwhelmed. As Jasmine put it,

We still had our old study methods. We just reviewed what we had learned before the exams. As for me, even though I finished all the sample questions, some of them I didn't really understand. As a result, I made the same mistake on the exams. I should have studied and reviewed what I had learned more regularly instead of rushing it all just before exams. Our timemanagement skills were also very poor. Before the exams I studied until mid-night everyday and I was really active in my studies. I think I should study all the time instead of just doing it before the exams.

Learning to change study methods and to manage their time wisely has, in effect, forced them to discipline themselves as the Canadian teachers did not force them to study.

With 200 or 300 students in one class, the professor does not even know who you are, let alone push you to study. Besides it's your money. If you do not want to study, that's your own choice.

Rose once made the above remark. At the end of the first term, they all agreed that they had become better learners in Canada than they were in China.

While listening to their experiences, I remembered my own struggle to become an independent learner in the first term as a graduate student. As I started to notice the difference between "study" and "research", I realized that my old way of rote learning had to be discarded. I had to learn how to formulate research questions and how to approach them effectively, i.e. I had to learn to be an educational researcher and a critical thinker!

Professor-student relations

While in that Canadian high school, Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose were impressed by the informality and friendliness of their teachers. They felt warm and welcomed. However, their "difficulties with the English language seemed to

have affected their adjustment to the teaching style in the Canadian education system, where active student participation was valued and encouraged" (Sheh, 1994, p. 68). Even now Magnolia and *Mei* would rather remain silent in classroom debates and discussions for their English 101 course until they are forced to voice their opinions. As for learning style, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose said that they had become better learners in Canada since nobody here would force them to study and they had to learn to discipline themselves to finish the assignments and lab reports on time. In China, they did not ask questions in class, but in Canada, the professors were more informal and friendly, Jasmine and Rose were more willing to ask questions to help them better understand the lectures.

In his survey research about the international students at the U of A, Arias (1999) notes that students from Asian countries are overly respectful of their professors and look to them for both guidance and ideas. They emphasize rote learning and rely on notes taken in classrooms. So Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose thought that some of their professors were "not competent, not helpful and lazy" when they did not get any notes from a lecture. I felt the same way when I found that some of my professor's lectures lacked organization and that I did not have any notes to take home to review. Now I understand that this is due to the different class format and role expectations of professor and student in two different education systems. Though difficult, we had to learn to adapt to the Canadian education system.

Maintaining GPA

In order to enter the faculties they dreamed of and to stay in the university, Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose had to study very hard to maintain high GPA. In fact, they spent most of their waking time studying textbooks and doing their homework. All of them said that there were too many tests and assignments in their coursework, which in turn created a lot of academic pressure in their lives. They were so busy with their studies, especially when tests and exams were coming, that they could not eat properly. They could not tell their parents about their bad eating habit, such as skipping meals or eating instant noodles all the time, because they did not want them to worry about their health. Jasmine said the workload in her program at the Faculty of Engineering was so high that she had learned to "stay up every night to measure my energy reserve" in order not to fall behind. All of them felt guilty if their GPA was "not satisfactory" because they knew how much their parents had done for them in their overseas education. They would study even harder. However, sometimes, they had to drop a course or two in the middle of a term when they realized that course would affect and lower their GPA. It was an expensive choice in terms of money and time. Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose learned to make very careful decisions about the selection of their coursework.

My Reflection on the Research Question

Entering the U of A marked an important step in Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose's overseas studies. Their dreams of going to university finally came true

and they were excited and happy at the beginning of their first term. And I was glad that they joined me on this research journey and hoped that this sharing of our experiences had made a difference in their lives.

Clandinin and Connelly (2000) state that,

...experience is the stories people live. People live stories, and in the telling of these stories, reaffirm them, modify them, and create new ones. Stories lived and told educate the self and others, including the young and those such as researchers who are new to their communities (as cited, p. xxvi)

Through telling and retelling their past experiences among themselves and to me, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose began to see their past experiences in different ways. They found out that their university preparation program was not as "meaningless" as they had thought. It did prepare them for the different teaching and learning methods at the U of A and they became familiar with the Canadian education system.

Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose were surprised to have gained new insights into their past experiences. Jasmine started to understand why she was impatient with her broken English. She was anxious to raise her TOEFL score within a very short period of time instead of having a long-term plan of learning a second language. Magnolia changed her mind and put family, not career, at the top of her list when she realized that family was more important to her. Rose, once "a flower in a greenhouse", began to think independently. And Mei acknowledged that, "I am an adult now." They all agreed that they have changed and grown and become more mature.

We retell our stories, remake the past. This is inevitable. Moreover, it is good. To do so is the essence of growth and for Dewey, is an element in the criteria for judging the value of experience. Dewey's reconstruction of

experience (for us the retelling and reliving of stories) is good in that it defines growth.... The purpose of this retelling, like retellings in any aspect of the narratives of our lives, is to offer possibilities for reliving, for new directions and new ways of doing things. (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000, p. 189)

Looking back, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose saw that their first university term was filled with errors, difficulties, regrets and tears, as Magnolia called hers "a failure". But they all passed their ESL course in their first term and they were hopeful that they would do better in the future as they had learned many lessons from their past experiences.

Though they are still not certain about their future, Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose know that they will finish their first university degrees in Canada and that they will make the best out of their overseas studies.

72

Chapter Six Making Life Easier: Recommendations and Suggestions

In this chapter I will write three letters to Dongmei ("winter plum

blossoms"), Chuntao ("spring peach blossoms") and Helen (all pseudonyms)

respectively to offer my recommendations and suggestions to both parents and

educators in China and educators in Canada to better equip and facilitate the

students' overseas studies.

A Letter to a Parent in China

To: Dongmei, my sister-in-law in Shanghai

Jan. 28, 2001

Dear Dongmei,

In the past few months, you have asked me several times whether it is a

good idea to send your son, a 17-year-old, to Canada to finish his high school here.

I hesitated and postponed my reply because right from the start I wanted to tell you

a big NO. Let him finish his high school in China. If he is ready, he can come

overseas for his first university degree.

I read from the internet that more and more secondary school students in

Shanghai are applying to go abroad to study and more and more foreign education

exhibitions are held in Shanghai to attract both university students and secondary

school students (Students broaden horizons overseas, 2000). I understand that the

fever of studying overseas is infectious, but at the same time, I am very concerned

that Chinese parents are not aware of the consequences and impact of sending their children abroad will have on their future lives.

Yes, "a large number of returned Chinese students have become State leaders, artists, scholars and successful business people" (ibid.). But there is also the other side of the coin, whose picture is not that rosy. I am sure that you have read from the media that not all the students going abroad enjoy their foreign life. Because of "culture shock" some suffer from physical and psychological dis-eases and may never recover completely. They feel lonely, homesick and insecure in a foreign country. Without the supervision of their parents, some students even involve themselves in gambling, stealing, and drinking. It's really sad to see huge amounts of money spent by parents and family and the future of those students ruined.

Because of the one-child policy, children in China are overprotected and/or spoiled by their parents. It will be difficult for those children to live on their own in a foreign country, where they are responsible not only for their studies but also for their daily lives. Apart from studying in a foreign language, they also have to do shopping and cooking, to look for accommodation, to pay bills, to buy clothes and do laundry, to open a bank account, to have a telephone hooked-up and many more trivial things in daily life, things that they will never give any thought to because they are all done by their parents back in China.

To tell you the truth, I have encountered far more difficulties than I had expected when I came here. Please never mention this to either your parents or mine because I always tell them the happy stories, only a small part of my three

years in Canada. For the most part, I struggled to make my way into this strange culture and am still not sure where I will fit in. Can you imagine, that even after studying and teaching English for so long, language was a problem for me at first!

Two years ago, I met four Chinese students on campus. They all finished their high school in China and came here for their first university degree. I have witnessed their struggles and difficulties as they moved from a university preparation program in a Canadian high school here to their first university term. They strongly recommend that Chinese students improve their English writing skills in addition to the study of TOEFL test before going abroad. Since it is also necessary for students to have some knowledge about computing skills, typing and word-processing skills are essential to survive in this new education system. These students feel that if Chinese students could have more freedom and free time to manage their own time in China and make their own decisions regarding their daily lives, no matter how trivial those decisions may be, they would be better off when coming overseas.

I know it sounds weird to you because Junjun ("handsome") is your only child and you tend to do everything for him. But you must realize that once he comes here, he will have to lead an independent life and make his own decisions. Let go of him, the sooner, the better. He will graduate from high school next June. So you have one more year to decide whether he is ready to go overseas in terms of his language abilities, independence and maturity. If this is what he really wants, you had better start to prepare him for the following:

- In addition to his high school English study, enroll Junjun in courses that teach English conversation and writing and TOEFL. Listen to the radio program Everyday English, which teaches Canadian English as well as some aspects of Canadian culture. Watch the English teaching and learning TV program hosted by a Canadian student studying in Beijing.
- Buy one English-Chinese dictionary and one Chinese-English dictionary and some Chinese books that Junjun loves to read.
- Ask Junjun to improve his English typing skill and go to the local library to learn how to search for useful information via internet.
- Buy him some jeans, many T-shirts and one or two sets of formal suits and a good quality snow-coat with a big hat. Don't buy snow-boots in Shanghai because they won't be good for the extremely cold Edmonton winter.
- Buy some sports equipment, such as ping-pong bats and balls, badminton rackets and shuttles and good-quality sports shoes.
- Give Junjun some freedom to decide what to eat, where to go, and when to study or sleep so that he will learn how to manage his own time efficiently.
- Let Junjun help you with the shopping, preparation, and cooking of meals.
 Sometimes you can even ask him to do it for a day or two with a limited budget so that he can learn to manage his money reasonably.
- Let him do his own laundry.
- If he has problems with his studies or his friends, don't fix the problems for him. Give him some time to figure out what he should do and then offer your suggestions.

Calm down and think carefully before you make a decision for your son because it will be a very expensive one. For one thing, he needs at least RMB \$100,000 (CND \$16,000) a year to complete his overseas study, which means you should make at least RMB \$150,000 per year and have no less than RMB \$500,000 deposit in the bank. For another, this decision will affect his future life. Ask yourself the following questions before making a decision for him and his future:

- 1. Is Junjun's English adequate? Has he taken the TOEFL test? What's his score, above 580 or below?
- 2. What are his study habits? Does he cram just before the exam or does he study regularly?
- 3. Is he able to manage his time efficiently?
- 4. Does he have any idea what major he will study in university? After graduation, what does he want to do?
- 5. Do you ask him to do shopping or cooking sometimes? Does he buy his own clothes? How does he manage his monthly allowance?
- 6. Has he ever left home and traveled alone to other cities in China? If yes, how did he feel about those experiences?
- 7. Does he himself really want to go abroad and study? Why?

Personally, I would suggest that he finish his first university degree in China and come to Canada for his graduate degrees. For one thing, at the graduate level, he can apply for assistantship; for another, by then he will be more mature in his behavior and thinking.

Best regards,

Lisa

A Letter to an Educator in China

To: Chuntao, a former classmate of mine in Singapore and a university English teacher in Shanghai

Jan. 28, 2001

Dear Chuntao,

I haven't heard from you for quite a while. How are you doing? In your last e-mail message just before Christmas, you said that you were very busy because the fall term was coming to an end. I hope that you had a good rest during the Chinese New Year holidays as the spring term will start very soon.

This is the third January I have stayed in Edmonton, better than two previous ones because both *Guoji* and *Jiayan* are with me. However, I still feel gloomy from time to time because of the short daylight and the cold weather. I have to stay in heated rooms, to travel in heated vehicles and to walk outdoors bundling up in awkward clothes. I no longer feel the thrill of the white snow as I did when I first came to Jasper in March 1998. In fact, the monotonous color of white is sickening now. I guess if I learned how to skate or ski, Edmonton winter would not be as bad as it sounds. Well, *Jiayan* certainly enjoys it. She loves her new Canadian winter sport for kids—tobogganing.

I was happy that we could get together when I went back to China in May last year. I wanted to know where the university teaching and learning of English in China was going.

I was excited when you told me that, in September 1999, you initiated an oral English course in addition to the normal English courses offered at your university on a trial basis. You were not sure how many students would come to your class, so you planned to teach two classes, each with 20 students. However, when more than 200 students wanted to take your course, you were overwhelmed. In the end, you had to teach 60 students each class while asking the rest to come back in the following term.

Fully aware that it would be difficult for you to teach such a large class spoken English, you were moved by the warm response from the students and decided to give it a try. In spring 2000 you had to enlist more teachers to help you to teach this course. How I had wished that I could have stayed and been one of those teachers!

It is exciting to see that the teaching and learning of English in China is turning in a new direction, which recognizes that not only the teaching and learning of grammar and vocabulary, reading and tests are important, but also listening and speaking, writing and communication. I am happy that the "mute and deaf" (Li, 1997) English will finally become history for Chinese students, especially those who plan to come overseas to pursue their advanced degrees.

I have met many Chinese students on campus here. They wished that in China teachers had taught them how to use English to express their ideas clearly, both in written and oral forms. In fact, essay writing and speaking skills were the most difficult for them when they first started their academic studies in Canada. In addition, they complained about the teaching of intensive reading in English, which made them very good analysts of sentence structures but extremely slow readers.

When I listened to them, I had the feeling that they were asking for the impossible because basically what they wanted was to learn English as a means of communication, not just a school subject to study. In a foreign language context, it was very difficult to provide authentic situations for communication. Besides, how many English teachers in China would feel comfortable speaking English all of the time to their students?

But with the coming of the internet, I think it is now possible for students in China to communicate with someone in the English-speaking countries to exchange ideas and information. I believe in five or ten years' time when the universities in China are fully equipped with computers and when the students have easy access to them, English teaching and learning will be quite different from now. At that time, perhaps we can set up some cyber-space classroom so that English learners from different places around the world can communicate with one another via internet for real purposes. However, I don't believe that computers will ever replace English teachers. To be human I need to be around human beings, not machines!

Thank you for being patient and reading all my crazy ideas. Perhaps you should start thinking about offering a writing course for your students. Or if you can wait, I will come back and we will do it together. How does that sound?

By the way, if any of your students are planning to come to Canada for their graduate degrees, please advise them that they should:

- Learn to think in English and express themselves in both oral and written forms.
- Read English as much as possible to enlarge their vocabulary and increase their reading speed (browsing and skimming vs. word-by-word reading).
- Take a course or two in English writing for academic purposes.
- Pass the TOEFL test and expose themselves to as much Canadian English as possible through radio, TV or the internet.
- Learn to present their ideas in a linear way and to the point in both debate and composition.
- Participate actively in classroom interactions instead of just sitting and listening to the teacher.
- Know that "doing" research at the graduate level in Canada is different from studying and "knowing' their subject areas at the undergraduate level in China. It requires a more analytical outlook and critical assessment of what they are taught.
- Know that the tuition in Canada is very expensive. They need at least RMB \$150,000 per year for their studies. They can try to find a part time job to support them, but it will be difficult because the jobs available to international

students are very limited and there is a restriction on international students to

work off-campus.

Buy their clothes in China and bring them to Canada.

Anticipate to live in shared accommodations to reduce the cost of living.

Have the habit of exercising regularly to stay healthy and energetic to endure

the pressure and stress of academic workload.

Learn to shop and cook healthy food for themselves.

Develop interpersonal skills so that they will make friends easily.

Learn to be independent and critical thinkers, to make their own decisions and

to manage their time efficiently.

• Prepare themselves psychologically that they will have "culture shock" and

that it takes time, patience and tolerance to overcome those initial difficulties.

Take care,

Lisa

A Letter to an Educator in Canada

To: Helen, an ESL teacher in Canada and a friend of mine

Jan. 28, 2001

Dear Helen,

How are you? I haven't contacted you for a long time. Have you kept

practicing the Qigong exercises I taught you two years ago? Hope you remain as

energetic as you were!

Whenever Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose mention you I can see that they have very fond memories of you. You were close to them and you treated them with respect. They really appreciated your efforts to help them with their English and their daily lives. They told me that you drove them across the city to help them find their first apartment! I think they were lucky to have you as their teacher. I can remember all of my English teachers back in China since I started learning English many years ago. They have made such positive influences on my life as a student that I myself became an English teacher 12 years ago. Although, as we all know, not every teacher is great, whether in China or in Canada, good teachers do make a difference in their students' lives, right?

Don't feel upset if Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose don't call you as often as you would like them to. Back in China, very few teachers were so close to them and usually in order to show respect to their teachers they have to keep a distance.

I could sense your unease when you told me that they wanted more homework! For their Canadian peers that might be too much, but not for them! If you had known how their lives were filled with endless homework and exercises in China you would not have felt guilty about assigning them too much homework. On the contrary, they felt "empty" and they "had nothing to do" after school.

After trial and error, they realized that

learning in a foreign country involves more than just reading new material in a second language. There is a whole underlying realm of culture intimately bound up in an educational system and this culture has to be learned (but not necessarily accepted) before a person can function successfully and comfortably (Upton, 1989, p. 11)

They needed to learn to compromise and then make adjustments between the two vastly different education systems, their different philosophies and the different roles and expectations of students and teachers.

Coming from China, Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose needed some time to get used to this informal and friendly North-American classroom culture. In China, in the Confucius tradition, a teacher is seen as a master and students as disciples. This yields a very rigid student-teacher relationship, in which the teacher is the knower and students, empty receptacles (Brooks, 1997, Masur, 1998). An ideal student in China is a quiet, passive person, who does not talk in class unless called upon, who does not ask questions during class period, who does homework and memorizes scientific laws and principles, historical and geographical facts, mathematical, physical, and chemical formulae, and poems and prose of famous poets and writers, ancient or modern... In China, teachers are seen as authorities in their subject areas and what they say is also accepted as truth. The classroom instruction is teacher-centered—almost always in lecture format. The class is always serious with little room for jokes or light-hearted discussion with students (Upton, 1989). Therefore, it is not surprising for these Chinese students to be very respectful to/of their teachers (Arias, 1999).

As a result, it is quite difficult for Chinese students to say NO to their teachers. I am not sure whether you had those confusing experiences with them or not. But many Chinese friends told me that they had those misunderstandings with their professors or supervisors, especially in their early days in Canada when they were not sure how to respond to a request properly. They tended to treat their

supervisors' suggestions or advice as final and thought that they had no choice but to accept them even though they had a different idea.

As for me, even something as simple as learning to maintain eye contact with the professor in a conversation in the classroom took quite a while and a lot of conscious effort because in China, in order to show respect, I had to avert my eyes, just the opposite of what is expected in Canada!

Although some consider the Chinese students to be very hard working. well-disciplined, attentive to details and masterful memorizers of large volumes of information in all subject areas, in China, "independent thinking and acting are often discouraged, or are at least not encouraged" (Upton, 1989, p. 13). However, after coming to Canada, Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei, and Rose soon learned that they had to become more independent and mature learners in order to succeed in this new system. They had to acquire new study skills in order to enrich their learning experiences in Canada because, as you can see, an ideal student in China means something very different than an ideal student in Canada. In Canada, an ideal student should be creative, inquisitive, resourceful, and -- to some extent -skeptical. Education here is not seen as information to be memorized, but rather as a process and a way of thinking and exploring that is to be developed (Upton, 1989)). Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei and Rose were amazed to notice that Canadian teachers often do not feel reluctant to admit their ignorance on a topic, nor will they be angered or embarrassed by challenging questions (Upton, 1989).

The flexibility of the Canadian education system offers many choices, but at the same time, it also "demands a lot of responsibility, initiative and independence on the part of the student" (Upton, 1989, p. 13). This, at first, created a lot of stress for these four students. As they worked through this new and strange system, and became familiar with it, they started to know where they should go and what they should do. In other words, Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose brought a repertoire of learning strategies to Canada and greatly enhanced that repertoire here. It will be interesting to see how much they change before they graduate... and what they will do when they return to China...

Recognizing that Chinese students learn differently and behave differently and that the Chinese culture is very different from the Canadian one, Canadian teachers should not be easily discouraged when, at first, they seem to have a monologue in the classroom. As time goes by, there will be dialogues between teacher and students because, as you once told me, "They may speak English with an accent, but they don't think with an accent!" Thank you for telling me that two years ago, Helen! I think I am lucky to have you as a friend. Because of your suggestions, I started this narrative study with Jasmine, Magnolia, *Mei* and Rose a year ago and it has been a very rewarding experience for all of us!

By creating a space for us to share stories of transition, Jasmine, Magnolia, Mei, Rose, and I have learned that we were not alone in our feelings and reactions of this sojourn and that we will survive, just like other international students have, in this new country. But how we wish that we had known what "culture shock" was like and that it was "normal" to feel frustrated, bored and uncertain during the first months in a foreign country! How we wish that there had been a better way to

help us learn about the resources available to us when we first came to the U of A campus, and that we had used them!

Hope we can get together soon and have a long chat!

Take care,

Lisa

References

Adler, P. S. (1975). The transitional experience: An alternative view of culture shock. <u>Journal of Humanistic Psychology</u>, 15, 513-523.

Adler, N. J. (1991). <u>International dimensions of organizational behavior</u> (2nd ed.). Boston: PWS-Kent.

Allen, R. E. (Ed.). (1990). <u>The concise Oxford dictionary of current English</u> (8th ed.). Oxford: Clarendon.

Arias, E. C. (1999). <u>Survey of International Students at the University of</u>
Alberta. Unpublished master's thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton.

Barna, L.M. (1998). Stumbling blocks in intercultural communication. In M.J. Bennett (Ed.), <u>Basic concepts of intercultural communication: Selected</u>

Readings (pp. 173-189). Yarmouth, ME, Intercultural Press.

Bennett, J. M. (1977, December). Transition shock: Putting culture shock in perspective. International and Intercultural Communication Annual 4.

Brooks, A. R. (1997, March). <u>Learning strategies as learning inhibitors for Chinese speakers</u>. Paper presented at the 31st Annual Meeting of the Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages, Orlando, FL.

Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (1991). Narrative and story in practice and research. In D. Schon (Ed.), <u>The reflective turn</u> (pp. 258-281). New York: Teachers College Press.

Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2000). <u>Narrative inquiry: Experience</u> and story in qualitative research. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Coles, R. (1989). The call of stories: Teaching and the moral imagination.

Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.

Connelly, F. M., & Clandinin, D. J. (1988). <u>Teachers as curriculum</u> <u>planners: Narratives of experience</u>. Toronto: OISE Press.

Connelly, F. M., & Clandinin, D. J. (1990). Stories of experience and narrative inquiry. <u>Educational Researcher</u>, 19 (4), 2-14.

Cummins, J. (1980). The cross-lingual dimensions of language proficiency: Implications for bilingual education and the optimal age issue. <u>TESOL Quarterly</u>, 14, 175-187.

Egan, K. (1986). <u>Teaching as story telling: An alternative approach to teaching and curriculum in the elementary school</u>. London, Ontario: THE ALTHOUSE.

Enrollment up at foreign high schools. (1999, August 3). Shanghai Daily [On-line]. Available:http://www.shanghai-

daily.com/data/city/9908m/city990803.html#5

Feng, J.H. (1991, March 20). <u>The adaptation of students from the People's Republic of China to an American academic culture</u>. Memphis, TN: Memphis State University, Department of Curriculum and Instruction. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 329833)

Furnham, A., & Bochner, S. (1986). <u>Cultue shock: Psychological reactions</u> to unfamiliar environments. New York: Methuen.

Harris, P. R. (1985). <u>Management in transition: Transforming managerial</u> practices and organizational strategies for a new work culture (pp. 299-322). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Kluczny, H. (1998). <u>The call to become an educator</u>. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Alberta, Edmonton.

Li, D. (1997). "Absolutely not the same": The potential and problems of communicative language teaching in China. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Alberta, Edmonton.

Lu, D. (1998). Facing dilemmas: Chinese students in the United States, 1979-1989 (Doctoral dissertation, University of Oregon, 1998). <u>Dissertation</u>

<u>Abstracts International, A 59 (03)</u>, p. 932. (Publication No. AAT 9826703)

Masur, L. E. (1998). My stories of teaching in China: "Foreign Expert"?

Unpublished master's thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton.

Mattingly, C. (1991). Narrative reflections on practical actions: Two learning experiments in reflective storytelling. In D. Schon (Ed.), <u>The reflective turn</u>. New York: Teachers College Press.

McEwan, H. & Egan, K. (Eds.) (1995). <u>Narrative in teaching, learning, and research</u>. New York: Teachers College Press, Columbia University.

Oberg, K. (1960). Culture shock: Adjustment to new environments.

Practical Anthropology, 7, 177-182.

Polkinghorne, D. E. (1988). <u>Narrative knowing and the human sciences</u>.

Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Sheh, S. (1994). Adjustment of Hong Kong students at the University of Alberta. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Alberta, Edmonton.

Students broaden horizons overseas. (2000, March 21). Shanghai Daily

[On-line]. Available: http://www.shanghai-

daily.com/data/city/0003m/city000321.html

Sun, W., & Chen, G. M. (1997, March). <u>Dimensions of difficulties</u>

<u>Mainland Chinese students encounter in the United States</u>. Paper presented at the

6th International Conference in Cross-cultural Communication, Tempe, AZ. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 408635)

Upton, T. A. (1989). Chinese students, American universities and cultural confrontation. Minne TESOL Journal, 7 (1987-89): 9-28.

Van Manen, M. (1984). Practicing phenomenological writing.

Phenomenology and Pedagogy, 2 (1), 36-69.

Yao, G. (1997). A journey cross cultures: A narrative inquiry of learning and teaching. Unpublished master's thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton.

Yeom, J. S. (1996). From the voices of children: Transition stories from kindergarten to grade one. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Alberta, Edmonton.

Appendixes

A,

October 9, 1999

Dear ______,

I am a graduate student in the Department of Secondary Education at the University of Alberta. I am doing my master's degree.

I am interested in studying issues relating to how female Chinese students make transitions to a new academic and cultural environment in Canada. By so doing, I hope to gain some insights which will enable me to offer some suggestions to both parents and students in China and educators at home and abroad.

I will meet with you every weekend for one to two hours to talk to you individually or as a group during the months of October, November and December, 1999. The interviews and conversations will be tape-recorded and transcribed. You will have a chance to review the transcribed material for its accuracy. You will also be encouraged to write some reflections about your own experiences during this time and share them with me as a part of my research.

I will only use the documents and materials if you permit me to do so.

They will be used for research purposes only. I will use them in ways that protect
your integrity and identity.

I would like to assure you that you may choose to withdraw from the research project at any time by simply informing me of your intentions.

I hope you will agree to participate in this research and that it will help you learn more about yourself as a human being and help you adjust to the new culture

informing me of your wishes.
Sincerely yours,
Yi (Lisa) Li
В,
University of Alberta
Research Consent Form
I,, hereby consent to be interviewed and tape-recorded
(print name of student)
by
(print name of researcher)
I understand that:
 I may withdraw from the research at any time without penalty;
all information gathered will be treated confidentially and discussed only with
the research supervisor;
■ I will not be identifiable in any documents resulting from this research.
I also understand that the results of this research will be used only in the following:
research thesis;
presentations and written articles for other educators.

(date signed)

(signature of student)

with more confidence. Please complete and sign the research consent form